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Chairman’s Statement £E&®RE

To the Shareholders,

| would like to extend my sincere thanks to all of you for
supporting Changfeng Axle (China) Company Limited
(the “Company”). On behalf of the board of directors (the
“Board”) of the Company, | am pleased to present you
the audited results of the Company and its subsidiaries
(collectively referred to as the “Group”) for the year ended 31
December 2011 (the “Year”).

In 2001, Ms. Wu Ching, the founder of the Company,
established Fujian Changfeng Axle Manufacturing Co.,
Ltd.(which was previously known as Longyan Changfeng
Mechanical Factory Co. Ltd.), which was engaged in
manufacture and sales of axle housings and other axle
components. Over the effort of the management in the past
years, the Company was successfully listed on The Stock
Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”) on
24 September 2010, thus tapping the international capital
market. This listing not only boosted the Company’s capital
base, but also strengthened our Group’s leading position
in the industry and enhanced the Company’s competitive
advantage, creating more business opportunities and giving
an impetus to the Group’s development.

Year 2011 was a challenging year due to the uncertainties
economic environment in China and around the world. The
medium and heavy truck industry in China was affected
by the slow down of construction and infrastructure
development projects, the tightening of credit policy and
the high operating cost of transportation industry. Facing
the less favorable truck industry environment in China, for
the year ended 31 December 2011, the Group recorded
a revenue of RMB920.7 million (2010: RMB approximately
RMB1,318.7 million) and net profit attributable to equity
holders of RMB59.8 million (2010: RMB285.7 million),
representing a decrease of 30.2% and 79.1%, respectively.
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During the Year, the Group proactively faced the challenge
in its business. It expanded its product offerings and
strengthened its development and production capability
through enhancement of production bases. The Group
continued to implement quality control procedures and
enhance its research and development capabilities.

Looking forward, the Group aims to develop its overseas
market, strengthen its leading position in the axle assemblies
and related component parts industry, and increase the
Group’s production efficiency and improve the production,
distribution and logistic capability to meet robust market
demand for high-quality products. In response to the
challenging truck industry, the Group will expand the
market coverage in the PRC through its extensive sales,
marketing and services network. With its strong research
and development capability, the Group has developed
proprietary axle production technologies and processes
that have facilitated the production of new and improved
axle products, further expanding its product offerings and
hence becoming a “one-stop” provider of axle components
for the MDT and HDT aftermarket in the PRC. Leveraging
the Group’s leading position in the industry and optimized
operational mode, it is believed that the Group will fully
benefit from development opportunity in the enormous
market in the PRC and achieve better results and hence
optimize return for shareholders.

Finally, on behalf of the Board, | would like to take this
opportunity to express my gratitude to all shareholders,
customers, employees, suppliers and partners for their
continuous support and encouragement. We are committed
1o using the highest quality and technical standards and fully
utilize every opportunity to give returns to shareholders and
all teams for their long-term support.

Mr. Wong Kwai Mo
Chairman

30 March 2012
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Management Discussion and Analysis B2 Ertw Kk 2

BUSINESS REVIEW

Founded in 2001, the Group is a leading independent axle
component provider for China’s medium duty truck (“MDT”)
and heavy duty truck (“HDT”) aftermarket, and also one of
the largest independent axle assembly providers for China’s
MDT and HDT original equipment manufacturers (“OEM”)
market. The Group is principally engaged in the manufacture
and sales of axle assemblies and axle components in the
People’s Republic of China (“PRC”).

The Group’s diversified axle component product offerings
include seven major categories of axle components
with over 680 models. The products cover all major axle
components, including cast steel and punched steel axle
housings, brake drums, axle shafts, axle differentials and
reductors, steering knuckles and front axle beams. An
extensive range of front, middle and rear axle assemblies
and suspension assemblies are also manufactured in
over 400 models. The Group adopts vertically integrated
production process, with comprehensive axle component
production capabilities and research and development
abilities enabling the Group to swiftly respond to changes
in market trends and meet customer demands. Proprietary
processing techniques are used in production process to
manufacture quality products which are characterized by
their strong durability and competitive prices.

The Group has four production facilities in the PRC, one
of which is located in Kaifeng city, Henan province, two of
which are located in Longyan city, Fujian province and one of
which is located in Nanchong city, Sichuan province. Those
production facilities are strategically located in proximity to
primary suppliers and OEM customers so as to accelerate
the Group’s procurement process, reduce product delivery
time and transportation costs and improve logistical
efficiency to meet customers’ demands.

MDT and HDT Aftermarket

The Group is the leading independent axle component
provider for China’s MDT and HDT aftermarket with the
most diversified product offerings among independent
axle component providers in China. During the year ended
31 December 2011, the axle components were sold to
customers in the aftermarket through its extensive sales,
marketing and services network across the PRC. For the
year ended 31 December 2011, revenue generated from the
aftermarket amounted to approximately RMB538.1 million
(2010: approximately RMB871.5 million) and accounted
for approximately 58.4% (2010: approximately 66.1%)
of the Group’s total revenue, representing a decrease of
approximately 7.7% as compared with the corresponding
period last year.
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MDT and HDT OEM market

The Group primarily sells axle assemblies directly to
OEMs in the PRC on a made-to-order basis to match its
customers’ specification requirements. A small portion
of axle components is occasionally sold to other axle
assembly providers. For the year ended 31 December 2011,
revenue from the OEM market amounted to approximately
RMB382.6 million (2010: approximately RMB447.2 million)
and accounted for 41.6% (2010: 33.9%) of the Group’s total
revenue, representing an increase of 7.7% as compared
with the corresponding period last year.

FINANCIAL REVIEW
Revenue

For the year ended 31 December 2011, the Group recorded
a consolidated revenue of approximately RMB920.7 million
(2010: approximately RMB1,318.7 million), representing a
decrease of 30.2% as compared with the same period in
2010.

Revenue from our aftermarket segment decreased by
approximately 38.3% from RMB871.5 million in 2010 to
RMB538.1 million in 2011. The decrease in revenue was
due to (i) less favorable industry environment caused by the
slow down of construction and infrastructure development
projects in China, which hampered the demand in the
aftermarket industry; and (i) decrease in unit selling price of
certain products under keen competition in the aftermarket
industry. The keen competition in the aftermarket industry
was mainly due to the slow down of demand in axle
components industry and tightening of the credit policy
in China, as a result some of the competitors sold their
products at a low cost in order to maintain cashflow liquidity.
The Group also participated in the price competition during
the second half of 2011 in order to maintain its market share.
The Group expects the price competition will lessen or come
to an end in year 2012 as the less competitive players will
be forced to exit the market, and the aftermarket industry
market situation will improve.

Revenue from the Group’s OEM and related market
segment decreased by approximately 14.4% from
RMB447.2 million in 2010 to RMB382.6 million in 2011. This
was mainly due to the decline in growth rate in the trucking
industry together with the delay in the launch of new trucks.
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Management Discussion and Analysis B2 Ertw Kk 2

Gross profit and gross profit margin

For the year ended 31 December 2011, the Group’s gross
profit decreased by 42.6% from approximately RMB439.3
million in 2010 to approximately RMB252.1 million. Gross
profit margin decreased from approximately 33.3% in 2010
to approximately 27.4% in 2011 mainly due to the decrease
in average unit selling price under the keen competition in
selling prices in the aftermarket industry, which increased
the Group’s pressure on the gross profit margin in the
aftermarket segment.

Other income

Other income of the Group increased from approximately
RMB2.5 million in 2010 to approximately RMB7.7 million
in the 2011, the increase was mainly attributable to the
receipt of the government grant for the Group’s eminent
contribution of tax payment, encouragement for the Group’s
business development and refund of various taxes paid.

Selling and distribution expenses

Selling and distribution expenses of the Group increased
from approximately RMB22.4 million in 2010 to
approximately RMB26.0 million in 2011. The increase was
mainly due to the increase in staff cost to retain and hire
talented sales and marketing personnel.

Administrative expenses

The Group’s administrative expenses increased from
approximately RMB48.5 million in 2010 to approximately
RMB63.9 million in 2011. The increase in administrative
expenses was mainly due to (i) the increase in the
amortisation of prepaid lease payment; (i) the increase in the
number of administration staff and corresponding staff cost
for the supervision of the new production site of the Group;
and (i) increase in miscellaneous expenses incurred for
operation of the new production site.

Finance costs

The Group incurred finance costs of approximately
RMB25.9 million in 2011, which represented approximately
2.8% (2010: approximately 1.7%) of its revenue and an
increase of approximately 14.9% from RMB22.5 million in
2010.

ENREFER

RBE-_T——F+-_A=+—RHLFE AEENEFN
M 42.6% B -E-TFHARKAZIBETRIELD
ARB252 18T - EMNXE T —TFH333% MFE
B -—FH27.4%  TEHRERETISTEEENTE
BFRINARER T B EE RS gmT
REBREIET S D BBEN R ES -

Hetr A

AEENEMBBAB —T-TFHARB25BETENE
TE—FEPARBITEEL ZERIZEANHAEE
MRERAT - SBAREEBREREENZENIEA
WS EIBK 5 448 B <2 PP

HERDTHEH

AEENHEERDHBRAE T TFNARK 2488
TREE-T——FHARK260HE T - ZERTIAR
ARG E MERERHE ML HABNB TRA EFAMEK -

THER

AEENTHRERE T -TFHARK 485 ETIEM
ECT—FHARKIBET - TTHERENEEH
P (i) B S TR AR S FRIRIE AN ¢ (i) R B R B AR E R 1T
ABEE MRS TR + K (i) T EREEE S
M EEERIEIATE -

k3-8

AEBR _E——FEENYBERNAARKEISBS0HE
T HERAL28% (—ZE—FF  H91.7%) B _T—
TEMARBE 225 BEITIE N 14.9% ©



Management Discussion and Analysis €2 @zt &k 2

Taxation

Tax charge decreased by approximately 56.4% from
RMB49.9 million in 2010 to RMB21.8 million in 2011 due
to the decreased profit. The effective tax rate in 2011 was
26.7% (2010: 14.9%).

Profit attributable to equity holders of the Company

For the year ended 31 December 2011, the Group
achieved a profit attributable to owners of the Company
of approximately RMB59.8 million, which represented a
decline of approximately 79.1% as compared with the
corresponding period of last year. Basic earnings per share
decreased by RMBO0.37 from RMBO0.44 per share in 2010 to
RMBO0.07 per share in 2011.

LIQUIDITY AND FINANCIAL RESOURCES

Cash and cash equivalent of the Group were mainly
generated from the cash flow deriving from operating
activities and financing activities.

As at 31 December 2011, cash and cash equivalent of
the Group was approximately RMB134.4 million (2010:
approximately RMB518.1 million).

As compared with the year of 2010, cash and cash
equivalent decreased by approximately RMB383.7 million,
which was mainly resulted from the net cash outflow from
operating activities of approximately RMB301.6 million
(2010: net cash inflow of RMB209.2 million) and net cash
outflow for investing activities of approximately RMB223.6
million (2010: approximately RMB414.4 million).

As at 31 December 2011, net current assets of the Group
was approximately RMB609.9 million (2010: approximately
RMB676.1 million). As at 31 December 2011, the current
ratio (i.e. total current assets / total current liabilities) of the
Group was approximately 187.7% (2010: approximately
209.9%).

As at 31 December 2011, total assets of the Group were
approximately RMB2,305.6 million (2010: approximately
RMB2,079.1 million) and total liabilities were approximately
RMB743.0 million (2010: approximately RMB616.2 million).
As at 31 December 2011, the debt ratio (i.e. total liabilities/
total assets) was 32.2% (2010: 29.6%).
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Management Discussion and Analysis B2 Ertw Kk 2

As at 31 December 2011, the Group had total borrowings
of approximately RMB495.9 million (2010: approximately
RMB328.4 million), and the gearing ratio (i.e. total
borrowing/total capital and reserve) was approximately
31.7% (2010: approximately 22.5%).

The Group will continue to strengthen its liquidity and
financial resources through the improvement of the
working capital (especially collection of trade receivables)
and undrawn committed facilities to facilitate the Group’s
investment activities.

Trade and bills receivable

Trade and bills receivables of the Group in 2011 were
approximately RMB750.4 million (2010: RMB390.5 million).
The increase in balance was due to the extension of the
credit term to customers.

The average turnover days of trade and bills receivable
increased from 103 days in 2010 to 226 days in 2011.
The increase in average turnover days of trade and bills
receivable was due to the increase in the percentage of
customers who require longer payment terms.

Inventory

The inventory balance of the Group for the year ended 31
December 2011 amounted to approximately RMB323.7
million (2010: approximately RMB290.3 million) which mainly
reflected the increase in raw materials and finished goods
required for the market demand for the new production site
in Kaifeng and Sichuan.

The average turnover days in inventory increased from 101
days in 2010 to 168 days in 2011. This was mainly due to the
commencement of operation in the new production facilities
in Kaifeng and Sichuan.

Trade and bills payable

Trade and bills payables of the Group in 2011 were
approximately RMB187.9 million (2010: approximately
RMB189.5 million). The decrease in balance was due to the
decrease in procurement of raw materials.

The average turnover days of trade and bills payables
increased from 69 days in 2010 to 103 days in 2011 as the
Group has negotiated a longer credit term with suppliers.
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Pledged assets

As at 31 December 2011, the Group has pledged assets
of approximately RMB269.6 million (2010: approximately
257.1 million) to secure the grant of banking facilities. As at
31 December 2011, the Group did not pledge the equity
shares of any of its PRC subsidiaries as collateral to secure
bank borrowings (2010: approximately 167.1 million).

Contingent Liabilities

As at 31 December 2011, the Group had no significant
contingent liabilities (2010:Nil).

Capital commitment

As at 31 December 2011, the contracted capital
commitment of the Group which were not provided in the
financial statements were approximately RMB13.8 million
(2010: approximately RMB54.0 million). Such capital
commitments were mainly for the capital expenditure in
respect of upgrading and acquisition of certain production
equipment at our production facilities.

During the year under review, Changfeng Gear
Manufacturing Co., Ltd (“Changfeng Gear”) was
incorporated pursuant to the cooperation agreement
entered into by and between the Group and an independent
third party on 11 November 2010, pursuant to which
the Group and the independent third party, being a non-
controlling shareholder of Changfeng Gear, owns 60% and
40% of the equity interest therein, respectively. The Group
made a cash contribution of RMB60,000,000 to Changfeng
Gear whilst the non-controlling shareholder contributed new
machineries with an aggregate value of RMB40,000,000
to Changfeng Gear. The Group and the non-controlling
shareholder are committed to inject an additional amount of
RMB60,000,000 and RMB40,000,000, respectively, in the
year 2012.

Employees and remuneration policy

As at 31 December 2011, the Group had 1,867 employees
(2010: 2,422 employees). For the year ended 31 December
2011, total staff costs were approximately RMB73.5 million
(2010: approximately RMB73.5 million).

The Group also provided internal training, external training
and correspondence courses for its staff in order to promote
self improvement and enhancement of skills relevant to
work. The remuneration of the directors of the Company was
determined with reference to their position, responsibilities
and experience and prevailing market conditions.
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Foreign exchange risk

The business of the Group is mainly located in the PRC and
most of the transactions are carried out in Renminbi. Most
of the assets and liabilities of the Group are computed in
Renminbi. As at 31 December 2011, the Group’s foreign
currencies amounted to approximately RMB6.8 million.
During the year ended 31 December 2011, the Group
did not utilize any future contracts, currency borrowings
and otherwise to hedge against its foreign exchange risk.
However, the Group will monitor the risk exposures and will
consider to hedge against material currency risk if required.

DIVIDEND

The Board does not recommend payment of any final
dividend for the year ended 31 December 2011 (2010: Nil).

PROSPECTS

Looking forward, riding on its (i) extensive sales, marketing
and services network among all axle component providers
in China’s MDT and HDT aftermarket; (i) diversified axle
component offerings well recognized for high quality
by customers; (iii) role as an independent provider of
axle products in both the aftermarket and OEM market,
enhancing the cross-marketing capabilities and maximising
the sales and profit, the Group seeks to strengthen its
leading position in the axle industry, to further expand its
product offerings and to become a “one-stop” provider of
axle components for the MDT and HDT aftermarket in China.

The Group will further enhance the following aspects in order
to increase its competitiveness in the market.

Expand overseas market

In order to expand gradually into overseas markets in
anticipation of overseas demand for the Group’s products,
the Company will leverage its broad range of quality product
offerings, product development capabilities and cost
competitiveness, the Group are well positioned to expand
sales of its products into overseas markets. The Group will
implement its overseas expansion plan gradually through a
variety of efforts, including:

° developing new product models or modifying
its existing products to satisfy the specification
requirements of different types and models of vehicles
used overseas;
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° increasing the sales of its axle components products
in the overseas axle aftermarket, initially in Southeast
Asia, by leveraging the Group’s existing overseas
distributors and developing new distributors through
its marketing channels; and

o increasing the sales of its customized axle assemblies
in the overseas OEM market, upon identifying potential
OEM customers who may have a need for customized
axle assemblies.

Marketing Network

In order to enhance its market penetration of the MDT and
HDT aftermarket, the Group will (i) expand its OEM market
by selling axle assemblies with higher margin with a view
to increase subsequent demand for their corresponding
aftermarket products; (ii) expand its extensive sales,
marketing and services network vertically and horizontally;
and (iii) provide comprehensive models and products
offerings, with its strong brand recognition.

Product Development

In order to increase the Group’s production efficiency and
improve its product development capabilities, the Group
strategically cooperates with various research institutions
in the PRC. Under such cooperation, new technology and
raw materials will be developed for the production of axle
components. Besides, the Group plans to develop new
processing technologies and establish national-level testing
laboratories aimed at increasing the production speed in
order to further shorten the product development cycle and
conduct the testing of its products in-house for certification
purposes within a shorter time frame than at third-party
testing facilities, thereby significantly reducing its overall
product development cycle.

Cost Control

The Group will make use of the four production facilities
located in the PRC which form an even broader strategic
production and distribution network for its products, so as
to efficiently control the production cost and logistic cost.
Besides, the Group will consolidate production lines to lower
its production cost. Furthermore, the Group will strategically
cooperate with suppliers in order to lengthen the credit
terms and reduce the purchase price.
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EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. Wong Kwai Mo (F#18), aged 48, was appointed as
the Director on 21 May 2008 and was re-designated as the
chairman and the executive Director on 28 June 2010. Mr.
Wong is responsible for the overall management, business
and strategic development, and major decision-making of
our Group. Mr. Wong has over 15 years of management
and operations experience in the automotive parts and axle
industry. Mr. Wong graduated from East China University of
Political Science and Law (ZERBUEAZ) with a bachelor’'s
degree in law in 1987 and worked for Longyan City
Public Security Bureau (3EET A% F) and Longyan City
Administration of Industry and Commerce (35 T LT
E12F) respectively until 1991. He then relocated to Hong
Kong in 1992. Mr. Wong served as the factory manager
of Yongding Changfeng Machinery Manufacturing Factory
(“Yongding Changfeng”) from 1993 to 2004 during which
he gained experience in management and administration.
Mr. Wong joined our Group in 2001 when his spouse, Ms.
Wu Ching, founded Fujian Changfeng. From 2008 onwards,
he has been the director and the general manager of Fujian
Changfeng. Mr. Wong has developed several patents
relating to axle components.

Ms. Wu Ching (#A8%), aged 47, was appointed as the
Director on 21 May 2008 and was re-designated as the
executive Director on 28 June 2010. Together with Mr.
Wong, Ms. Wu is responsible for overall management,
business and strategic development, and major decision-
making of our Group. Ms. Wu has over 15 years of
management and operations experience in the automotive
parts and axle industry. Ms. Wu graduated from Fujian
Normal University (@ # Al # X £) with a bachelor’s
degree in arts in 1985 and worked for Education Bureau
of Longyan (BEETMHE ) from 1986 to 1989. Ms. Wu
then relocated to Hong Kong in 1989. Ms. Wu worked for
Yongding Changfeng from 1993 to 2001 during which she
gained experience in management. Ms. Wu founded Fujian
Changfeng in March 2001. Since 2001, she has been the
chairperson of Fujian Changfeng. Ms. Wu is currently the
deputy chairperson of Longyan City Machinery Industry
Association (BBE M # W 1T %% €) and Longyan City
Association of Women Entrepreneurs (385 M Z ¥R
&) and a member of Yongding County CPPCC (5K iE £
Bi#%). Ms. Wu received the National Machinery Industry
Outstanding Entrepreneur (2B T EZEF D ER)
award in 2009 jointly by the China Machinery Industry
Federation (4 EI##% T 284 &) and the China Machinery
Enterprise Management Association (A Bl T 2 2EE
BHE).
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Mr. Lai Fengcai (®8[BI¥/), aged 35, has been appointed
as the chief executive officer and executive Director on
24 September 2010. Mr. Lai is responsible for overall
management, business and strategic development, major
decision-making, operations, sales and marketing, internal
control of our Group. Mr. Lai has worked in our Group
for nine years and he joined our Group as the head of the
production department of Fujian Changfeng in 2001. He
was promoted as the deputy general manager of Fujian
Changfeng in 2003 and was respectively in charge of
production, procurement, sales and marketing. From
2006 onwards, he has been the vice president of Fujian
Changfeng in charge of the day-to-day operations of
Fujian Changfeng. He has over nine years of experience in
operation and management in the automotive parts and
axle industry. Mr. Lai is currently studying in the Executive
Development Program at the Guanghua School of
Management of Peking University (1t 5 A 22 ¢ 5% 18 2205 ).

NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR

Ms. Dong Ying, Dorothy (£78), aged 41, was appointed as
the Director on 6 August 2008 and was re-designated as
the non-executive Director on 28 June 2010. Ms. Dong has
over 15 years of experience in investments and corporate
finance. Ms. Dong is a managing partner of C.V. Starr
Investment Advisors (Asia) Limited and, prior to an internal
restructuring, Starr International Company (Asia), Limited
(together, “Starr Asia”). Prior to joining Starr Asia in 2007,
she served as a vice president at AIG Global Investment
Corp. (Shanghai) Ltd., a division of American International
Group, Inc, focusing on private equity in the PRC, and as
a director at Anglo Chinese Corporate Finance Limited and
the director of its Shanghai advisory company. Ms. Dong
received a bachelor’s degree in law from Shanghai University
(Fudan Sub-school) in the PRC in July 1992, and a Master
of Business Administration degree from McGill University,
Canada in June 1997. She was admitted as a Chartered
Financial Analyst in September 1999 and is a member of
the Hong Kong Society of Financial Analysts and the CFA
Institute.

Ms. Dong is a representative from Starr Investments
Cayman Il, Inc. (“Starr Investments”) on our Board.
Following our Listing, Ms. Dong will be subject to the normal
retirement, re-election and removal processes applicable to
all other Directors as stipulated in the Articles.
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INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. Zhu Weizhou (:1&/M), aged 46, has been appointed as
the independent non-executive Director on 24 September
2010. Mr. Zhu graduated from East China University of
Political Science and Law (¥R BUE A E) with a bachelor’s
degree in law in 1987. Mr. Zhu has been the chairman of
Xifu Investment Co., Ltd. (FE 1% & AR A7) from October
2007 onwards. Mr. Zhu was a director of Gemdale Co., Ltd.
(=B AR A 7)), a company listed on the Shanghai
Stock Exchange (Stock Code: 600383), from November
2006 to April 2008. Mr. Zhu also served as an assistant
to the chairman of Guangsha Holdings Venture Capital
Co., Ltd. (EEEREIZEZEBR A7), the controlling
shareholder of Zhejiang Guangsha Co., Ltd. (I EE
& AR A E]), a company listed on the Shanghai Stock
Exchange (Stock Code: 600052), from August 2002 to
December 2008.

Dr. Li Xiuging (55)5), aged 46, has been appointed as
the independent non-executive Director on 24 September
2010. Dr. Li received a doctor’'s degree in legal history, a
master’s degree in law and a bachelor’s degree in law from
East China University of Political Science and Law (3£ 3R BUE
KE) in June 2004, June 1990 and July 1987, respectively.
She is a professor of law and doctoral tutor at East China
University of Political Science and Law (EERBUEAEZ). Dr.
Li is the chief editor of ECUPL Journal (2B BUE A B2 EAGR).
She was a visiting scholar at Oxford University from January
2003 to July 2003 and received the Shanghai Outstanding
Young Jurist (8 TEFF B FEER) award in 2006. Dr.
Li has published more than 30 articles in major law journals
in the PRC.

Mr. Chong Ching Hei (58 &), aged 39, has been appointed
as the independent non-executive Director on 24 September
2010. Mr. Chong graduated from Hong Kong Polytechnic
University with a master’s degree in professional accounting in
December 2005. Mr. Chong has over 14 years of experience
in auditing and corporate financial services. Mr. Chong was
admitted as an associate member of the Hong Kong Institute
of Certified Public Accountants in October 1999 and a fellow
member of the Association of International Accountants in
June 2004. Mr. Chong now serves as the financial controller
of a private group engaged in the development, manufacture
and sales of construction materials in China. Prior to joining
that Company, Mr. Chong was a financial controller and
company secretary of China Water Property Group Limited, a
company listed on the Stock Exchange (Stock Code: 2349).
Mr. Chong was also the financial controller and company
secretary of Coastal Rapid Transit Company Limited (/&/&
LiEBERAMRAR]), the subsidiary of Tianjin Development
Holdings Limited whose shares are listed on the Stock
Exchange (Stock Code: 882), from April 2004 to March 2006.
Mr. Chong previously worked for Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu
in Hong Kong for over seven years.
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SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Mr. Yang Jinwen (%54 3), aged 38, is the vice president.
Mr. Yang is responsible for daily operations, production,
distribution and product development for our Group. Mr.
Yang has worked in our Group for nine years. He has over
ten years of experience in operation and management in
the automotive parts and axle industry. Mr. Yang graduated
from China Agricultural University (FREI 2% AE) with a
bachelor' s degree in heat engines (Z4 12 B)1) in 1996.
He was qualified as an intermediate mechanical engineer
in December 2003 by the Personnel Bureau of the city of
Longyan (825 A2 /3). He was responsible for technology
management at Longyan Pump and Nozzle Plant of Longma
Group of Fujian ({8228 5 & B a2 mE AR ) from
August 1996 to February 2002.

Mr. Chan Wai Shing (FR1E5%), aged 32, is the chief financial
officer, company secretary and one of our authorized
representatives. Mr. Chan is responsible for corporate
finance, legal, auditing, accounting, investor and public
relations, and administration of our Group. Mr. Chan
joined our Group in September 2009. He graduated from
City University of Hong Kong with a bachelor’ s degree
in accountancy in 2001. Mr. Chan has over eight years of
experience in auditing, advisory accounting and financial
management. He worked for Techtronic Industries
Company Limited whose shares are listed on the Stock
Exchange (Stock Code: 669) from October 2008 to August
2009. Mr. Chan worked for Ernst & Young from September
2001 to October 2008. Mr. Chan was qualified as a certified
public accountant of the Hong Kong Institute of Certified
Public Accountants in September 2005 and he was
admitted as a fellow of the Association of Chartered Certified
Accountants in November 2009. Mr. Chan is currently
studying for his master’ s degree in financial analysis at the
Hong Kong University of Science and Technology.
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The Board is pleased to present the annual report and the
audited financial statements of the Group for the year ended
31 December 2011.

GENERAL INFORMATION

The Company was incorporated in the Cayman Islands on
21 May 2008 under The Companies Law, Cap. 22 (Law 3 of
1961, as consolidated and revised) of the Cayman Islands
with (“Companies Law”) with limited liability.

In preparing for the listing of the Company’s shares on
the Main Board of the Stock Exchange, the Group has
undergone a reorganization since 16 April 2008. As a result,
the Company became the holding company of each of the
companies currently comprising the Group. Details of the
reorganization are set out in the prospectus of the Company
dated 13 September 2010. The shares of the Company
were listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange on 24
September 2010.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The principal activity of the Company is investment holding.
Details of the principal activities of its subsidiaries are set
out in note 29 to the financial statements. There were no
significant changes in the nature of the Group’s principal
activities during the year under review.

RESULTS AND DISTRIBUTION

The results of the Group for the year ended 31 December
2011 are set out in the financial statements on page 42.

The Board does not recommend the payment of any final
dividend in respect of the year ended 31 December 2011.

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The summary of the results, assets and liabilities of the
Group for the year ended 31 December 2011 is set out on
page 42-43.

RESERVES

Movements in the reserves of the Group during the year
ended 31 December 2011 is set out on page 44.

DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES

As at 31 December 2011, there is no distributable reserves
held by the Company.
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SHARE CAPITAL

Changes in share capital of the Company for the year ended
31 December 2011 and as at that date are set out in note 24
to the financial statements.

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There is no provision for pre-emptive rights under the articles
of association of the Company (the “Articles”) or the laws of
Cayman Islands, which would oblige the Company to offer
new shares to existing shareholders on a pro-rata basis.

SHARE OPTION SCHEME

Pursuant to the resolutions in writing passed by all
shareholders of the Company on 28 June 2010, the
Company approved and adopted a share option scheme
for the purpose of enabling the Group to grant options
to selected participants as incentives or rewards for their
contribution to the Group (the “Share Option Scheme”).
During the year ended 31 December 2011, no share option
had been granted under the Share Option Scheme.

As at the date of this annual report, the total number of
Shares available for issue under the Share Option Scheme
was 80,000,000 Shares, which represented 10% of the
Shares in issue.

The Share Option Scheme became effective on 24
September 2010 and the options issued pursuant to the
Share Option Scheme will expire no later than 10 years from
the date of grant of the option. Under the Share Option
Scheme, the Board may grant options to any employees,
directors, advisors, consultants, suppliers, customers,
distributors and such other persons who in the sole opinion
of the Board will contribute or have contributed to the
Company or any of its subsidiaries to subscribe shares of the
Company.

For any options granted to Directors, chief executives
or substantial shareholders of the Company, options to
be granted shall be approved by the independent non-
executive Directors (excluding any independent non-
executive Director who is the proposed grantee of options).

The number of shares issued and to be issued in respect of
options granted and may be granted to any individual in any
one year is not permitted to exceed 1% of the total shares
of the Company in issue at any point in time, without prior
approval from the shareholders.
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The amount payable on acceptance of an option is
HK$1.00, which will be payable on or before a prescribed
acceptance date. In relation to any options granted under
the Share Option Scheme, the exercise price is determined
by the Directors, and will not be less than the higher of (i)
the closing price of the Company’s shares on the date of
grant; (i) the average closing price of the shares for the five
business days immediately preceding the date of grant; and
(iii) the nominal value of the Company’s share.

The Share Option Scheme does not contain any minimum
period(s) for which an option must be held before it can be
exercised. However, at the time of granting of the options,
the Board may specify any such minimum period(s).

Unless otherwise terminated by the Board or the
shareholders in general meeting in accordance with the
terms of the Share Option Scheme, the Scheme shall be
valid and effective for a period of 10 years from the date on
which it becomes unconditional which was 24 September
2010, after which no further options will be granted or
offered but the provisions of the Share Option Scheme shall
remain in full force and effect to the extent necessary to
give effect to the exercise of any subsisting options granted
prior to the expiry of the 10-year period or otherwise as may
be required in accordance with the provisions of the Share
Option Scheme.

MAJOR SUPPLIERS AND CUSTOMERS

During the year under review, the aggregate sales
attributable to the Group’s five largest customers comprised
approximately 25.3% of the Group’s total sales and
the sales attributable to the Group’s largest customer
were approximately 8.4% of the Group’s total sales.
The aggregate purchases during the year under review
attributable to the Group’s five largest suppliers were
approximately 32.4% of the Group’s cost of sales and the
purchases attributable to the Group’s largest supplier were
approximately 13.9% of the Group’s cost of sales.

So far as is known to the directors, none of the directors,
their associates or substantial shareholders owns more
than 5% of the Company’s issued share capital nor had
any interest in the share capital of any of the five largest
customers and suppliers of the Group.

BANK BORROWINGS

Particulars of bank borrowings of the Group as at 31
December 2011 are set out in note 23 to the consolidated
financial statements.
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DONATIONS

Charitable and other donations made by the Group during
the year under review amounted to approximately RMBNIil
(2010: approximately RMB137,000).

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

During the year ended 31 December 2011, the Group held
property, plant and equipment of approximately RMB612.5
million. Details of the movements are set out in note 15 to
the consolidated financial statements. Had the Group’s
buildings been included in these financial statements at
such valuation amount throughout the year ended 31
December 2011, an additional depreciation charge of
approximately RMB31.8 million would have been charged
to the consolidated income statement for the year ended 31
December 2011.

PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF THE
COMPANY’S SHARES

The Company has not redeemed any of its listed shares
during the year ended 31 December 2011. Neither the
Company nor any of its subsidiaries had purchased, sold or
repurchased any of the listed shares of the Company during
the year ended 31 December 2011.

DIRECTORS

During the year under review, the Board comprised of
directors:

Executive Directors:

Mr. Wong Kwai Mo (Chairman) (appointed on 28 June 2010)
Ms. Wu Ching (appointed on 28 June 2010)

Mr. Lai Fengcai (appointed on 24 September 2010)

Non-executive Directors:
Ms. Dong Ying, Dorothy (appointed on 28 June 2010)

Independent non-executive Directors:

Mr. Zhu Weizhou (appointed on 24 September 2010)

Dr. Li Xinging (appointed on 24 September 2010)

Mr. Chong Ching Hei (appointed on 24 September 2010)

In accordance with article 84 of the Articles, each of Mr.
Lai Fengcai, Mr. Zhu Weizhou and Mr. Chong Ching Hei
will retire from the office of Director by rotation and, being
eligible, will offer himself/herself for re-election at the
forthcoming annual general meeting.
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DIRECTORS’ SERVICE CONTRACTS

Each of the executive Directors and the non-executive
Director has entered into a service agreement with the
Company for an initial term of three years commencing from
24 September 2010, whereas each of the independent non-
executive Directors has entered into a letter of appointment
with the Company and is appointed for an initial term of three
years commencing from 24 September 2010.

None of the Directors being proposed for re-election at the
forthcoming annual general meeting has a service contract
with any member of the Group which is not determinable by
the Group within one year without payment of compensation
(other than statutory compensation).

CONFIRMATION OF INDEPENDENCE

The Company has received from each of the independent
non-executive Director an annual confirmation of their
independence pursuant to Rule 3.13 of the Rules Governing
the Listing of Securities on the Stock Exchange (the “Listing
Rules”) and considers all the independent non-executive
Directors to be independent.

DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION

The Remuneration Committee considers and recommends
to the Board the remuneration and other benefits paid
by the Company to the Directors. The remuneration
of all Directors is subject to regular monitoring by the
Remuneration Committee to ensure that the levels of their
remuneration and compensation are appropriate. Details of
Directors’ remuneration are set out in note 12 to the financial
statements.

DIRECTORS’ AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT’S
BIOGRAPHIES

Biographical details of the directors of the Company and the
senior management of the Group are set out on pages 14 to
17 of the annual report.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN CONTRACTS OF
SIGNIFICANCE

Save as disclosed under the heading “Connected
Transactions”, there was no contract of significance in
relation to the Group’s business to which the Company or
any of its subsidiaries was a party to and in which a Director
had a material interest in, whether directly or indirectly,
and subsisted at the end of the financial year under review
or at any time during the financial year under review save
as disclosed under the section headed “Related Party
Disclosures” below and note 28 to the financial statements.
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DIRECTOR’S INTERESTS IN COMPETING BUSINESS

None of the Directors held any interests in any competing
business against the Company or any of its jointly controlled
entities and subsidiaries for the year ended 31 December
2011.

DIRECTORS’ RIGHTS TO PURCHASE SHARES OR
DEBENTURES

At no time during the year under review were rights to
acquire benefits by means of the acquisition of shares in
or debentures of the Company granted to any Director or
their respective spouse or minor children, or were any such
rights exercised by them; or was the Company, its holding
company, or any of its subsidiaries or fellow subsidiaries a
party to any arrangement to enable the Directors to acquire
such rights in any other body corporate.

INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS OF THE
DIRECTORS AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE OF THE
COMPANY IN THE SHARES, UNDERLYING SHARES
AND DEBENTURES

As at 31 December 2011, the interests or short positions of
each Director and chief executive in the shares, underlying
shares or debentures of the Company or its any associated
corporation (within the meaning of Part XV of the Securities
and Futures Ordinance (Chapter 571 of the Laws of Hong
Kong) (“SFQ”)) which were required to be notified to the
Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to Divisions
7 and 8 of Part XV of the SFO (including interests and
short positions which are being taken or deemed to have
taken under such provision of the SFO); or were required
pursuant to Section 352 of the SFO to be entered in the
register referred to therein; or were required pursuant to the
Model Code for Securities Transactions by Directors of the
Company (the “Model Code”) as set out in the Listing Rules
to be notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange were
as follows:
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() Interestin our Company (i) REAITRNER

Approximate
Number of percentage of
Name of Director Nature of Interest Securities shareholding
BEEEH ERME E5HE BHRETD L
Wu Ching (Note) Interest of a controlled 404,762,592 50.60%

corporation

EEACIED) XA E S
Wong Kwai Mo (Note) Interest of a controlled 404,762,592 50.60%

FHER (D)

corporation
RIEEE R

Note: Each of Wu Ching and Wong Kwai Mo holds 50% of the
issued share capital of Changfeng Axle Holdings Ltd.

(“Changfeng BVI’).

Biat - BEFR TR E B35 50%Changfeng Axle Holdings

Ltd, ([#EEBVI]) BE#Z/TRA -

(i) Interestin associated corporations (i) MAEBSIENER
Name of associated Number of Percentage

Name of Director corporation shares Shareholding
BEEEHE HEEE AR RGHER REBDL
Wu Ching Changfeng BVI 25,000 50%
[ HEBVI
Wong Kwai Mo Changfeng BVI 25,000 50%
FHEE LBV

SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS FERR

As at 31 December 2011, the following persons had
interests and short positions of 5% or more in the Shares as
recorded in the register required to be kept under Section
336 of the SFO:

RoZ——+=A=+—F  RRGPEEREESR
SRS )5 SO0 1BTF B 2 B MM 5% R L
RABALINT -

Long positions in the Shares and underlying Shares of RATRORHEBRONETFE
our Company
Approximate
Interests in percentage
Name of shareholder Nature of interest Shares shareholding Notes
BORE
REEH EEME IR 2R [Epid MiaE
Changfeng BVI Beneficial owner 404,762,592 50.60% 1
BEBVI EmEAA
Wu Ching Interest of a controlled 404,762,592 50.60% 1
ik corporation
Ry EE
Wong Kwai Mo Interest of a controlled 404,762,592 50.60% 1
TR corporation
R EE R
Starr International Foundation Interest of a controlled 114,801,600 14.35% 2

corporation
SN
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Approximate

Interests in percentage
Name of shareholder Nature of interest Shares shareholding Notes
AR E
RRETE ERME R 1p R Bkt I EE
Starr International AG Interest of a controlled 114,801,600 14.35% 2
corporation
SYEAE R
Starr International Interest of a controlled 114,801,600 14.35% 2
corporation
A E R
Starr International Investments Ltd Interest of a controlled 114,801,600 14.35% 2
corporation
TP AE R
Starr Insurance and Reinsurance Ltd Interest of a controlled 114,801,600 14.35% 2
corporation
SR EE R
Starr International Cayman, Inc. Interest of a controlled 114,801,600 14.35% 2
corporation
XIEAE R
Starr Investments Cayman II, Inc. Beneficial owner 114,801,600 14.35% 2
EnEEA
Bliss Fortune Holdings Limited Beneficial owner 45,519,840 5.69% 3
(“Bliss Fortune”) EnEEA
g BR AR ([HE])
Liu Man Chun Interest of a controlled 45,519,840 5.69% 3
B3R corporation
YR EE R
China Construction Bank Corporation Interest of a controlled 244,915,968 30.61% 4
PR ERIRTTIRD AR AR corporation
X I/f@*gﬁn
CCB International Group Holdings Interest of a controlled 244,915,968 30.61% 4
Limited corporation
EITEBREEERER A A A E R
CCB Financial Holdlngs Limited Interest of a controlled 244,915,968 30.61% 4
BITERIZERBRA corporation
LB R
CCB International (Holdings) Limited Interest of a controlled 244,915,968 30.61% 4
EIRERR (AR BRR A corporation
YR EE R
CCB International Assets Management Interest of a controlled 244,915,968 30.61% 4.5
(Cayman) Limited corporation
X I/i@*gﬁn
CCB International Asset Management Interest of a controlled 244,915,968 30.61% 4
Limited corporation
BEBREEERERAA A E R
Central Huijin Investment Ltd. Interest of a controlled 244,915,968 30.61% 4
FRRIESIREGR AR corporation
S AE R
Wan Tai Investments Limited Security interests 244,915,968 30.61% 4
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Notes:

(1)

@

©

“

()

Changfeng BV is owned as to 50% by Wu Ching and as to 50%
by Wong Kwai Mo. Both Wu Ching and Wong Kwai Mo are
deemed to be interested in the Shares held by Changfeng BV for
the purpose of the SFO.

Starr Investments is wholly-owned by Starr International Cayman,
Inc., which is in turn wholly-owned by Starr Insurance and
Reinsurance Ltd.. Starr Insurance and Reinsurance Ltd. is a
wholly-owned subsidiary of Starr International Investments Ltd.,
which is in turn wholly-owned by Starr International Company Inc.
(“Starr International”). Starr International is wholly-owned by Starr
International AG, which is wholly-owned by Starr International
Foundation, a charitable foundation established in Switzerland.
Each of Starr International Foundation, Starr International AG,
Starr International, Starr International Investments Ltd., Starr
Insurance and Reinsurance Ltd. and Starr International Cayman,
Inc. is deemed to be interested in the Shares held by Starr
Investments for the purpose of the SFO.

Bliss Fortune is wholly-owned by Liu Man Chun, and Liu Man
Chun is deemed to be interested in the Shares held by Bliss
Fortune for the purpose of the SFO.

Wan Tai Investments Limited is wholly-owned by CCB
International Asset Management Limited. CCB International
Asset Management Limited is wholly-owned CCB International
Assets Management (Cayman) Limited, CCB International
Assets Management (Cayman) Limited is wholly-owned by CCB
International (Holdings) Limited. CCB International (Holdings)
Limited is wholly-owned by CCB Financial Holdings Limited.
CCB Financial Holdings Limited is wholly-owned by CCB
International Group Holdings Limited. CCB International Group
Holdings Limited is wholly-owned by China Construction Bank
Corporation which is ultimately indirectly owned by Central Huijin
Investment Ltd.. Accordingly, each of CCB International Asset
Management Limited, CCB International (Holdings) Limited, CCB
Financial Holdings Limited, CCB International Group Holdings
Limited, China Construction Bank Corporation and Central Huijin
Investment Ltd is deemed to be interested in the security interests
held by Wan Tai Investments Limited, for the purpose of the SFO.

CCB International Assets Management (Cayman) Limited was
spin off from the Group of China Construction Bank Corporation
on 20 February 2012.
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Starr Investments /1 Starr International Cayman, Inc. =&
A ’ Starr International Cayman, Inc. £ Starr Insurance and
Reinsurance Ltd, & # A ° Starr Insurance and Reinsurance
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International Investments Ltd. i Starr International Company
Inc. ([Starr International/) 2 ## ° Starr International £
Starr International AG £ &# 4 - Starr International AG #
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SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on information available to the Company and
within the knowledge of the Directors, the Company has
maintained sufficient public float throughout the year ended
31 December 2011.

RETIREMENT SCHEME

The Group operates a Mandatory Provident Fund Scheme
(“MPF Scheme”) under the Hong Kong Mandatory Provident
Fund Schemes Ordinance for employees employed under
the jurisdiction of the Hong Kong Employment Ordinance.
The MPF Scheme is a defined contribution retirement
scheme administered by independent trustees. Under the
MPF Scheme, each of the employer and employee are
required to make contributions of 5% of the employees’
relevant income to the scheme, subject to a cap of monthly
relevant income of HK$20,000. Contributions made to the
scheme are vested immediately.

The employees of the subsidiaries in the People’s Republic
of China participate in the retirement schemes operated
by the local authorities. The subsidiaries are required
to contribute a certain percentage of their salaries to
these schemes to pay the benefits. The only obligation
of the Group in respect to these schemes is the required
contributions under the schemes.

For the year ended 31 December 2011, the Group’s total
contributions to the retirement schemes charged in the
income statement amounted to approximately RMB8.4
million (2010: approximately RMB6.6 million). Details of the
Group’s pension scheme and the basis of calculation are set
out in note 10 to the financial statements.

CODE ON CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRACTICES

The Company is committed to the establishment of good
corporate governance practices and procedures with a
view to enhancing investor confidence and the Company’s
accountability and transparency. The Company therefore
strives to attain and maintain effective corporate governance
practices and procedures. Throughout the year ended 31
December 2011, the Company has complied with the CG
Code contained in Appendix 14 to the Listing Rules. The
Group’s principal corporate governance practices are set
out on pages 32 to 39 of the annual report.
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CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS

During the year ended 31 December 2011, the Group
entered into the following continuing transactions with
its connected persons. The transactions constituted
“continuing connected transactions” for the Company under
the Listing Rules. Waivers from strict compliance with the
announcement requirements, or the announcement and
independent shareholders’ approval requirements, had
been received from the Stock Exchange. The transactions
are subject to the reporting requirements set out in Chapter
14A of the Listing Rules.

CONTINUING CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS
WHICH ARE SUBJECT TO THE REPORTING,
ANNOUNCEMENT AND INDEPENDENT
SHAREHOLDERS’ APPROVAL REQUIREMENTS

1.  Purchase of roughcast axle housing from
Yongding Changfeng Machinery Manufacturing
Factory (“Yongding Changfeng”)

On 29 May 2010, the Company entered into a sale
and purchase agreement (the “Purchase Agreement”)
with Yongding Changfeng, pursuant to which
the Company agreed to purchase or procure its
subsidiaries to purchase roughcast axle housing
from Yongding Changfeng for the production of the
products for a term of three years commencing from 1
January 2010 to 31 December 2012.

The price for the roughcast axle housing supplied
by Yongding Changfeng will be determined on the
following basis in order of priority:

o the price prescribed by the State (including
any price prescribed by any relevant local
authorities), if applicable;

o the price recommended under the State pricing
guidelines, when no State-prescribed price is
available;

° the market price, when neither the State-
prescribed price nor the State recommended
price is available; or

° the price which is no less favourable to the
Group than is available from independent third
parties, when none of the above is available or
applicable.
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Mr. Lu is a cousin of Mr. Wong Kwai Mo, being one
of the controlling shareholders of the Company. As
Yongding Changfeng may be substantially influenced
or controlled by Mr. Lu, who is the legal representative
and the factory manager of Yongding Changfeng, and
Mr. Wong Kwai Mo, who has held a prior position and
role at Yongding Changfeng, Yongding Changfeng
is therefore deemed as a connected person of our
Company pursuant to Rules 14A.06 and 14A.11(4) of
the Listing Rules.

During the year under review, the aggregate amount
of transactions under the Purchase Agreement
was approximately RMB41.1 million and the waiver
granted by the Stock Exchange was RMB50 million.
As at 31 December 2011, the Group has advanced
RMB39,692,000 for the purchase of goods to
Yongding Changfeng.

CONTINUING CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS
WHICH ARE SUBJECT TO THE REPORTING AND
ANNOUNCEMENT REQUIREMENTS BUT EXEMPT
FROM THE INDEPENDENT SHAREHOLDERS’
APPROVAL REQUIREMENT

2.

Supply Agreement with Yongding Changfeng

On 29 May 2010, the Company entered into a supply
agreement (the “Supply Agreement”) with Yongding
Changfeng, pursuant to which the Company has
agreed to supply or procure members of the Group to
supply scrap steel which is steel waste created during
the production of steel and expected to be disposed of
or not required by the Group to Yongding Changfeng
for a term of three years commencing from 1 January
2010 to 31 December 2012.

The price for the scrap steel supplied by the Group
to Yongding Changfeng will be determined on the
following basis in order of priority:

o the price prescribed by the State (including
any price prescribed by any relevant local
authorities), if applicable;

o the price recommended under the State pricing
guidelines, when no State-prescribed price is
available;

o the market price, when neither the State-
prescribed price nor the State recommended
price is available; or

° the price which is no less favorable to the
Group than is available from independent third
parties, when none of the above is available or
applicable.

Directors’ Report EEEH &

EREARNRREBRBER Y —THEBEENRL
Fo MR KEREAAZIKEREEIERERA
FIBMGSEBEELRERTAIRKEREHES B &5
BT ERE AT ESRES  FHIRE EmAERNE
14A.06 R 14A 1A & KEREWR AR RFINEA
WAL e

REBFERN KBHEBETHNISEBEOAR
BAABEEL MBEXMEENRESARKES0H
B -MN_T——F+_A=+—H0 AE£EBEEDR
XEREFEBEE DRI FBRARES9,602,0007T °

ABTHERAERAECEERRETE LRI ERE
NIFRRERS

KIE B B B

RZE—TFERA-+NH AAFEXKERYEE]
vHERE(HERSZD Bt AR5 FEH
JES (R FE ANEBMKE A RAKE R LZHEREN (£
EMBRPEAMAEEBHHENTFEEAMEE
) BT ZEF—A—HEE-_ZE——F+_A
—t+—HILAB=F -

BAKEFAKE R EHEEMOERBRENATE

ERBRRTEE

o ER - REEFREE(BEHEAERLT
WREMEMNEMER) ;

<

s EHEERERE REEREERESITHESRT
B

. EERTETEEREATE  RETHE

o EENLTEEHIAHEETEMR  REHR
AEEME NERAEBLE =T RENE
18

N
(o]

e
18t
i
B
at
o
o)
L
N
<
s
B




W
o

(@]
>
)
>
Q
=4
@
=}
Q@
>
=
@
(@]
=
=}
o
(@]
o
o
[}
=}
<
[
=.
®
o
[ ]
>
=}
=}
c
[
2
[0}
o°
s}
=
=
N
o

Directors’ Report EEE#H &

Mr. Lu is a cousin of Mr. Wong Kwai Mo, being one
of the controlling shareholders of the Company. As
Yongding Changfeng may be substantially influenced
or controlled by Mr. Lu, who is the legal representative
and the factory manager of Yongding Changfeng, and
Mr. Wong Kwai Mo, who has held a prior position and
role at Yongding Changfeng, Yongding Changfeng
is therefore deemed as a connected person of our
Company pursuant to Rules 14A.06 and 14A.11(4) of
the Listing Rules.

During the year under review, the aggregate amounts
of transaction under Supply Agreement was
approximately RMB9.8 million and the waiver granted
by the Stock Exchange was RMB20 million.

Pursuant to Rule 14A.38 of the Listing Rules, the
Board has engaged the auditor of the Company to
perform certain agreed upon procedures in respect
of the continuing connected sale and purchase
transactions of the Group. The auditor has reported its
factual findings on these procedures to the Board. The
independent non-executive Directors have reviewed
the continuing connected transactions and the report
of the auditor.

In the opinion of the independent non-executive
Directors, the continuing connected transactions
entered into by the Group were:

(i) in the ordinary and usual course of business of
the Group;

(i) either (@) on normal commercial terms; or (b)
where there is no available comparison, on
terms that are no less favorable to the Group
than terms to or from independent third parties;
and

(i) in accordance with the agreements governing
the transactions on terms that are fair and
reasonable so far as the shareholders.

Other than disclosed above, there was no other
transaction which needs to be disclosed as connected
transaction in accordance with the requirements of
the Listing Rules during the year ended 31 December
2011.
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The Board does not recommend the payment of any final
dividend in respect of the year ended 31 December 2011.




CLOSURE OF REGISTER OF MEMBERS

The register of members of the Company will be closed from
Monday, 4 June, 2012 to Thursday, 7 June 2012, both days
inclusive, during which period no transfer of shares will be
registered. In order to determine who are entitled to attend
and vote at the forthcoming annual general meeting of the
Company to be held on Thursday, 7 June 2012, all transfer
documents accompanied by the relevant share certificates
must be lodged with the Company’s Hong Kong share
registrar, Computershare Hong Kong Investor Services
Limited, at Rooms 1712-1716, 17th Floor, Hopewell Centre,
183 Queen’s Road East, Hong Kong for registration no later
than 4:30 p.m. on Friday, 1 June 2012.

AUDIT COMMITTEE

The Audit Committee had reviewed together with the
management and external auditors the accounting principles
and policies adopted by the Group and the audited annual
consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31
December 2011.

AUDITORS

The consolidated financial statements for the year ended
31 December 2011 have been audited by Deloitte Touche
Tohmatsu who shall retire at the forthcoming annual general
meeting of the Company. A resolution will be proposed at
the forthcoming annual general meeting of the Company
to re-appoint Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu as auditor of the
Company.

By order of the Board

Wong Kwai Mo
Chairman

Hong Kong, 30 March 2012
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The Board is pleased to present this Corporate Governance
Report in the Group’s annual report for the year ended 31
December 2011.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRACTICES

The Company is committed to the establishment of good
corporate governance practices and procedures with a view
to being a transparent and responsible organization which
is open and accountable to the Company’s shareholders.
The Board strives to adhere to the principles of corporate
governance and has adopted sound corporate governance
practices to meet the legal and commercial standards,
focusing on areas such as internal control, fair disclosure
and accountability to all shareholders to ensure the
transparency and accountability of all operations of the
Company. The Company believes that effective corporate
governance is an essential factor to create more value for its
shareholders. The Board will continue to review and improve
the corporate governance practices of the Group from time
to time to ensure that the Group is led by an effective Board
in order to optimize return for shareholders.

The Company has complied with the Code on Corporate
Governance Practices (the “CG Code”) as set out in
Appendix 14 to the Listing Rules throughout the year ended
31 December 2011.

THE BOARD

The Board consists of 7 Directors, 3 of whom are executive
Directors, 1 of whom is non-executive Director and 3
of whom are independent non-executive Directors. The
functions and duties conferred on the Board include
convening shareholders’ meetings and reporting on the
work of the Board to the shareholders at shareholders’
meetings as may be required by applicable laws,
implementing resolutions passed at shareholders’ meetings,
determining the Company’s business plans and investment
plans, formulating the Company’s annual budget and final
accounts, formulating the Company’s proposals for dividend
and bonus distributions as well as exercising other powers,
functions and duties as conferred on it by the Articles and
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applicable laws. The senior management is delegated the
authority and responsibilities by the Board for the day-
to-day management and operations of the Group. The
Board meets regularly to review the financial and operating
performance of the Company, and considers and approves
the overall strategies and policies of the Company. The
composition of the Board is well balanced with the directors
having sound industry knowledge, extensive corporate and
strategic planning experience and/or expertise relevant to
the business of the Group. The executive Directors and
independent non-executive Directors bring a variety of
experience and expertise to the Company.

The Company has received an annual confirmation of
independence from each of its independent non-executive
Directors pursuant to Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules.
Based on the contents of such confirmation, the Company
considers that the three independent non-executive
Directors are independent and that they have met the
specific independence guidelines as set out in Rule 3.13 of
the Listing Rules.

All Directors have separate and independent access to the
Company’s senior management to fulfill their duties and,
upon reasonable request, to seek independent professional
advice in appropriate circumstances, at the Company’s
expense. All Directors also have access to the company
secretary who is responsible for ensuring that the Board
procedures, and all applicable rules and regulations, are
followed. An agenda and accompanying Board/committee
papers are distributed to the Directors/Board committee
members with reasonable notice in advance of the meetings.
Minutes of Board meetings and meetings of Board
committees, which records in sufficient detail the matters
considered by the Board and decisions reached, including
any concerns raised by Directors or dissenting views
expressed, are kept by the company secretary and are open
for inspection by Directors.

The Company has subscribed appropriate and sufficient
insurance coverage on directors’ liabilities in respect of
legal actions taken against directors arising out of corporate
activities.

The Board meets regularly to review the financial and
operating performance of the Company, and considers and
approves the overall strategies and policies of the Company.

Mr. Wong Kwai Mo is the husband of Ms. Wa Ching, and
Ms. Wa Ching is the wife of Mr. Wong Kwai Mo.
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Non-executive Directors

The non-executive Director has entered into a service
agreement with the Company for an initial term of three years
commencing from 24 September 2010, whereas each of
the independent non-executive Directors has entered into
a letter of appointment with the Company and is appointed
for an initial term of three years commencing from 24
September 2010.

In accordance with article 84 of the Articles, at each annual
general meeting one-third of the Directors for the time being
(or, if their number is not a multiple of three (3), the number
nearest to but not less than one third) shall retire from office
by rotation provided that every Director shall be subject to
retirement at least once every three years.

BOARD COMMITTEES

As an integral part of sound corporate governance practices,
the Board has established the following Board committees
to oversee the particular aspects of the Group’s affairs. Each
of these committees comprises independent non-executive
Directors who are being invited to join as members.

AUDIT COMMITTEE

The Audit Committee was established in compliance with
Rules 3.21 and 3.22 of the Listing Rules and with written
terms of reference in compliance with the CG Code. The
primary duties of the Audit Committee are to review and
monitor the Company’s financial reporting and internal
control principles of the Company and to provide advice
and comments to the Board. The members meet regularly
with the external auditors and the Company’s senior
management for the review, supervision and discussion
of the Company’s financial reporting and internal control
procedures and ensure that management has discharged its
duty to have an effective internal control system. The Audit
Committee consists of three members, namely Mr. Chong
Ching Hei, Mr. Zhu Weizhou and Dr. Li Xiuging, of which are
all independent non-executive Directors. Mr. Chong Ching
Hei, who has appropriate professional qualifications and
experience in accounting matters, was appointed as the
chairman of the Audit Committee.

The Audit Committee held two meeting during the year under
review.
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The Audit Committee has reviewed the consolidated
financial statements of the Group for the year ended 31
December 2011, including the accounting principles and
practices adopted by the Group, selection and appointment
of the external auditors.

REMUNERATION COMMITTEE

The Remuneration Committee was established on
24 September 2010 with written terms of reference
in compliance with the CG Code. The Remuneration
Committee is chaired by Mr. Zhu Weizhou with two
independent non-executive Directors, namely Mr. Chong
Ching Hei and Mr. Wong Kwai Mo, as members. The
principal responsibilities of the Remuneration Committee
are to formulate and recommend remuneration policy
to the Board, to make recommendations to the Board
on the Company’s policy and structure for all directors
and senior management remuneration, approve and
review management’s proposals with reference to the
Board’s corporate goals and objectives and the make
recommendations to the Board on the remuneration of non-
executive directors of the Company. The Board expects
the Remuneration Committee to exercise independent
judgment and ensures that executive Directors do not
participate in the determination of their own remuneration.

The Remuneration Committee held one committee meeting
during the year under review.

NOMINATION COMMITTEE

The Nomination Committee was established on 24
September 2010. The chairman is Dr. Li Xiuging, an
independent non-executive Director, and the two other
members are Mr. Wong Kwai Mo and Zhu Weizhou, both
of them are independent nonexecutive Directors. The
Nomination Committee is responsible for reviewing the
structure, size and composition of the Board, making
recommendation to the Board on selection of candidates
for directorships, appointment, reappointment of Directors
and Board succession and assessing the independence of
independent non-executive Directors.
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The Nomination Committee held one meeting during the
year under review.

NUMBER OF MEETINGS AND DIRECTORS’ SRRESHERH
ATTENDANCE

BE-T——HF+-A=1+—"HLFE JUEFHFE
Fg BERZBE FHZEgkiERZBEeZEMNEA
HERCERE ST -

The individual attendance record of each Director at the
meetings of the Board, Audit Committee, Remuneration
Committee and Nomination Committee during the year
ended 31 December 2011 is set out below:

Board Audit Remuneration Nomination
Meeting Committee Committee Committee
EES -] ERZEE FMzEe REZE®
36 Executive directors HITEE
Mr. Wong Kwai Ho (Chairman) THEBRE(FR) 5/5 N/A i il 1
Ms. Wu Ching Ly e 5/5 N/ANER N/A T iE N/A @R
Mr. Lai Fengcal BERLE 5/5 N/A TN N/A 1@ A N/A N
Non-executive Directors HHTEE

Ms. Dong Ying, Dorothy gRut 5/5 N/A TN N/A TE A N/A N

Independent non-executive Directors BUHNTEE
Mr. Zhu Weizhou KEMEE 5/5 22 1/1 11
Mr. Li Xiuging EHEET 5/5 2/2 N/A A 11
Mr. Chong Ching Hei HEEESE 5/5 2/2 11 N/A i
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COMPLIANCE WITH THE MODEL CODE FOR
DIRECTORS’ SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS

The Company has adopted the Model Code for Securities
Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers (“Model Code”)
as set out in Appendix 10 of the Listing Rules as its own
code of conduct for securities transactions. Specific
enquiries have been made with all Directors, who have
confirmed that, during the period under review, they were in
compliance with the required provisions set out in the Model
Code. All Directors declared that they have complied with
the Model Code for the year ended 31 December 2011.

BTESETESRENEETR

ARBDHRA LR BER T PAER LM BITAESET
EHRHHRET R ([RETRIDIER/EETESFRHN
TR - 2RERFLARSHERR  REXEES
N—BEEBTHRETAMHENETEGRY - 2BEFTHNE
RBE-T——F+-_A=+—"HALFEA—BHETEE
STRIEVARTE ©



Corporate Governance Report £ E8 8 &

DIRECTORS’ RESPONSIBILITY FOR THE FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

The Directors acknowledge their responsibility for
preparation of the financial statements for the financial year
ended 31 December 2011 which give a true and fair view
of the state of affairs of the Company and of the Group at
that date and of the Group’s results and cash flows for the
year then ended and are properly prepared on the going
concern basis in accordance with the applicable statutory
requirements and accounting standards. The statement of
the external auditors of the Company about their reporting
responsibilities on the financial statements is set out in the
“Independent Auditor’s Report”.

AUDITORS’ REMUNERATION

During the year ended 31 December 2011, the remuneration
paid or payable to the Group’s auditors, Deloitte Touche
Tohmatsu, in respect of their audit and non-audit services
are as follows:

ESUURHBRRNEL

EENERERAEBE_T——F+t-_A=1t—HLWK
FEFBRENEL - BHBRNERRARFRRAEKE
RZANEBIRR R AREREZ B FREOEE MR
ERE  IRBERNEERERGHERHELER
BEZREE - BRARRINEZBENH M WK AAIE L
RREENER  SHR [BIRBERE] A -

¥ BB 2 B

HE-_Z——F+-_AZ+—BHIFE BENENEE
EZEENEE « MERT TR NI IREH
BN

Items Amount
HH k|
(RMB’000)

(AR¥FT)

Statutory audit services JEEZEARTS 1,863
Non-audit services IEIZERTS 28
Total B 1,891
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INTERNAL CONTROL

The Board is responsible for maintaining sound and effective
internal control systems in order to safeguard the Group’s
assets and shareholders’ interests, and review and monitor
the effectiveness of the Company’s internal control and risk
management systems on a regular basis so as to ensure that
internal control and risk management systems in place are
adequate. The Company has established written policies
and procedures applicable to all operating units to ensure
the effectiveness of internal controls. The Company also
has a process for identifying, evaluating, and managing
the significant risks to the achievement of its operational
objective. This process is subject to continuous
improvement and was in place since 24 September 2010
and up to the date of this report. The day-to-day operation is
entrusted to the individual department, which is accountable
for its own conduct and performance, and is required
to strictly adhere to the policies set by the Board. The
Company carries out reviews on the effectiveness of the
internal control systems from time to time in order to ensure
that they are able to meet and deal with the dynamic and
ever changing business environment.

During the year under review, the Board has conducted
a review and assessment of the effectiveness of the
Company’s internal control systems including financial,
operational and compliance controls and risk management
for the year ended 31 December 2011. Internal Control
department was assigned to assist the Board to perform
high-level review of the internal control systems for its
business operations and processes. Such review covered
the financial, compliance and operational controls as well as
risk management mechanisms and assessment was made
by discussions with the management of the Company and
its external auditors. The Board believes that the existing
internal control system is adequate and effective.

W EREEIE

EXERREARR2ERNAREEHE  MREAKE
BEMBERMNEGE  YEMRSRRERARFAMEZER
RRER RS 2K - AR AN REZERERER R
o ARREHTERANAALEEMNEMBRKLIZ
Fr o FERABPERIERREER - KRR ERR - FHE REIE
EKH WEFMEWE BAR - ZEFATENE -
YE-Z-FTFAA-THREREEARSE AR RE
e Eﬁ%@%%%ﬂﬂ%ﬁ HEARFEBFINTRREER
RETHE  YABKRETEFSHENRR - AR
RRETT BB IR R AR MR - HEREBESTT & RS
R MR QRIRE

REBEFER EFGCHARABRE_FT——F+_H
=t+—RIFE AR EE R ETRN R - 2555
% 2ERARENNERERE - AEEZEAPIERER
HBEEEMEERLE RRIBETRAR © &R
EWNG - THRESEEZFANEREE#S - WRARQE
ZERERENTZBED N RS - EFEEE
BAERNBEZERGIFTRA B
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DEED OF NON-COMPETITION

The Company has received, from each of the controlling
shareholders of the Company, an annual declaration on
his/her/its compliance with the undertakings contained in
the Deed of Non-Competition entered into by each of them
in favour of the Company pursuant to which each of the
controlling shareholders of the Company has undertaken to
the Company that he/she/it will not and will procure that his/
her/its associates (other than members of the Group) not to,
engage in any of our business including (without limitation)
the following activities:

° acquiring, holding, developing, transferring, disposing
or otherwise dealing in, whether directly or indirectly,
axle components business or related investments;

° engaging, having a right or in any way having an
economic interest, in the promotion or development of
or investment in axle components business; or

° acquiring, holding, transferring, disposing or otherwise
dealing in any option, right or interest over any of the
matters set out in the two paragraphs above;

except for acquiring, holding, transferring, disposing or
otherwise dealing in, directly or indirectly, shares of any
company, joint venture, corporation or entity of any nature,
whether or not incorporated, with any interest in the matters
set out in the three paragraphs above so long as their
aggregate interest in any such entity is less than 5% of its
equity interest.

Details of the Deed of Non-Competition were disclosed in
the Prospectus under the section headed “Relationship with
Our Controlling Shareholders”.

The independent non-executive Directors have reviewed
and were satisfied that each of the controlling shareholders
of the Company has complied with the Deed of Non-
Competition for the year ended 31 December 2010.

THRFEZE

ARBDWREBIARR B S IEBBR B8 T T35 RIBPTE
AEEMERNFEEER - TEFRERSERBRERD
AEISL - Bt ARBBIERBERARARAHEGTE -
R e EE A+ (REENKE ARG T8 5
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COMMUNICATION WITH SHAREHOLDERS

The Board recognizes the importance of maintaining a clear,
timely and effective communication with the shareholders
of the Company and investors. The Board also recognizes
that effective communication with its investors is critical
in establishing investor confidence and to attract new
investors. Therefore, the Group is committed to maintaining
a high degree of transparency to ensure the investors and
the shareholders of the Company will receive accurate,
clear, comprehensive and timely information of the Group
through the publication of annual reports, interim reports,
announcements and circulars. The Company also publishes
all corporate communications on the Company’s website at
www.changfengaxle.com.hk. The Board maintains regular
dialogues with institutional investors and analysts from time
to time to keep them informed of the Group’s strategy,
operations, management and plans. The Directors and
members of various board committees will attend the annual
general meeting of the Company and answer any questions
raised. The resolution of every important proposal will be
proposed at general meetings separately.

The chairman of general meetings of the Company would
explain the procedures for conducting a poll before
proposing a resolution for voting. The poll results will
be announced at general meetings and published on
the websites of the Stock Exchange and the Company,
respectively. In addition, the Company regularly meets
with institutional investors, financial analysts and financial
media, and promptly releases information related to any
significant progress of the Company, so as to promote the
development of the Company through mutual and efficient
communications.

BERR SR AV ER

EERPHRARGBRALREEREAR - MENE
MOBME S22 - EFGMRMNEAREE 2 BRE
B DENEREEEORRSIIREE 2B Bt
RAEBRNIRRFEEAE  BREAQFAKREERRRE
MBTEFR - PHRSE - AMRBK - BEIER B
M- TERMEEOREBRER - NRARIER R
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Deloitte.
=)

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT

TO THE MEMBERS OF CHANGFENG AXLE
(CHINA) COMPANY LIMITED

(incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

We have audited the consolidated financial statements
of Changfeng Axle (China) Company Limited (the
“Company”) and its subsidiaries (collectively referred
to as the “Group”) set out on pages 41 to 105, which
comprise the consolidated statement of financial position
as at 31 December 2011, and the consolidated statement
of comprehensive income, consolidated statement of
changes in equity and consolidated statement of cash
flows for the year then ended, and a summary of significant
accounting policies and other explanatory information.

DIRECTORS’ RESPONSIBILITY FOR THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The directors of the Company are responsible for the
preparation of consolidated financial statements that
give a true and fair view in accordance with Hong Kong
Financial Reporting Standards issued by the Hong Kong
Institute of Certified Public Accountants (the “HKICPA”)
and the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong
Companies Ordinance, and for such internal control as the
directors determine is necessary to enable the preparation
of consolidated financial statements that are free from
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITY

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these
consolidated financial statements based on our audit
and to report our opinion solely to you, as a body, in
accordance with our agreed terms of engagement and
for no other purpose. We do not assume responsibility
towards or accept liability to any other person for the
contents of this report. We conducted our audit in
accordance with Hong Kong Standards on Auditing
issued by the HKICPA. Those standards require that we
comply with ethical requirements and plan and perform the
audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the
consolidated financial statements are free from material
misstatement.
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AR ([ERAR) REWBRAR (5 [E£E]) GRAMKR
* BEZ——F+-A=+—BNEaIBKHK RN
HEZBPULFENGAZAKRER  BAESEHRE
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Independent Auditor’s Report & %S Ei#R &

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITY (CONTINUED)

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain
audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures in
the consolidated financial statements. The procedures
selected depend on the auditor’s judgment, including
the assessment of the risks of material misstatement of
the consolidated financial statements, whether due to
fraud or error. In making those risk assessments, the
auditor considers internal control relevant to the entity’s
preparation of the consolidated financial statements that
give a true and fair view in order to design audit procedures
that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the
purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness
of the entity’s internal control. An audit also includes
evaluating the appropriateness of accounting policies used
and the reasonableness of accounting estimates made by
the directors, as well as evaluating the overall presentation
of the consolidated financial statements.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is
sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our audit
opinion.

OPINION

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a
true and fair view of the state of affairs of the Group as at
31 December 2011, and of its profit and cash flows for the
year then ended in accordance with Hong Kong Financial
Reporting Standards and have been properly prepared in
accordance with the disclosure requirements of the Hong
Kong Companies Ordinance.

Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu
Certified Public Accountants
Hong Kong

30 March 2012
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Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income GZ&2E K%

for the year ended 31 December 2011
BE-_Z——F+-A=+t—-HLEE

2011 2010

—E——F —E-FF

NOTES RMB’000 RMB’000

FaE ARBET T AREFTT

Revenue A 7 920,681 1,318,709

Cost of sales SHEMA (668,588) (879,379)

Gross profit Al 252,093 439,330

Other income and other gains and losses EmWAREMK=REE 8 7,680 2,532

Selling and distribution expenses SHE R R (26,044) (22,393

Research and development expenditure EER (13,857) (12,860)

Administrative expenses TS (63,851) (48,510)

Impairment loss on trade receivables B S RBGRIBRERE 20 (48,700) =

Finance costs bR AN 9 (25,900) (22,534)

43

Profit before tax BT AR A 10 81,421 335,565
Taxation Bl 11 (21,775) (49,890) i
1t
Profit and total comprehensive income FRmH &2 i
for the year HaEE 59,646 285,675
Profit (loss) and total comprehensive income LA A 1555 (E518) J:%
(expense) attributable to: REHEWE (FAX) 858 »
Owners of the Company VIN/NEIEZEWN 59,767 285,675 f
Non-controlling interests EZediy £ (121) - N
59,646 285,675 A

RMB RMB

Basic earnings per share SREER R 13 0.07 0.44
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Position & AR R

at 31 December 2011
R-ZB——F+=HA=+—H

Non-current assets

Property, plant and equipment

Prepaid lease payments

Prepayment for acquisition of machinery

Prepayment for acquisition of land use right
and buildings

Available-for-sale investments

Deferred tax assets

Current assets

Inventories

Trade and other receivables
Prepaid lease payments
Income tax recoverable
Available-for-sales investments
Pledged bank deposits

Bank balances and cash

Current liabilities

Trade and other payables
Amount due to a director
Borrowings-due within one year
Income tax payable

NET CURRENT ASSETS

TOTAL ASSETS LESS CURRENT
LIABILITIES

NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES
Deferred tax liabilities
Borrowings — due after one year

CAPITAL AND RESERVE
Share capital
Reserves

Equity attributable to owners of the Company

Non-controlling interests

The consolidated financial statements on pages 41 to 105
were approved and authorised for issue by the Board of

FRBEE
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A EFIE
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RABHRA AEIE L

FEFERR MR

Directors on 30 March 2012 and are signed on its behalf Z:

by:

Director

EF

NOTES
Bt

15
16

17
18

22

28(b)

23

18
23

24

2011 2010
—g——& —T-ZE
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®FT  ARETR
612,475 396,325
294,736 201,172
42,708 99,094
49,750 =

- 1,000

1,003 =
1,000,672 787,591
323,742 290,287
837,380 474,922
6,203 6,005

44 -

1,000 =
2,100 2177
134,450 518,105
1,304,919 1,291,496
241,798 257,345
1,500 800
447,968 328,450
3,785 28,767
695,051 615,362
609,868 676,134
1,610,540 1,463,725
- 865

47,960 =
1,562,580 1,462,860
53,560 53,560
1,469,067 1,409,300
1,522,627 1,462,860
39,953 =
1,562,580 1,462,860

Director

EF

HREA BEE105ENGREUBRENR_ZE——_4F=1
—THEESTSMWAERKEENR  THTINESERESE



Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity fR&#Em S B &

for the year ended 31 December 2011
HE-Z-——F1+-A=1—-ALFE

Reserves
ffE
Non-
Share Share Capital Surplus Special  Retained controlling
capital  premium  reserves  reserves  reserves  eamnings interests Total

kx  ROGEE RARE  EREE  NREE  REER  FERER aif

RMB'0O0  RMB'000  RMB000  RMB000  RMB'000  RMB'00  RMB'000  RMB'000

ARBTT  ARBIT ARBTR ARETR ARETR ARMTR ARETR ARETR
(note @) (note b)

(W) (WD)

At 1 January 2010 RZT-F£-f-H 343 - 26982 59,647 82 236878 - 567
Profitand total comprehensive income.~~ FRiERIR2EREEE
for the year - - - - - 285,675 - 285,675
Appropriafions B - - - 60,401 - (60401 - - 45
Issue of new shares (note 24) B(TiRin (k24) 13388 650,608 - - - - - 663,99
Capitalisation issue (note 24) B AT (M 24) 39829 (39829 - - - - - - ;E
Transaction cost attributable to issue EIEETHRAR SR 1t
of new shares - (11489 - - - - - (1148 G
e
At 31 December 2010and 1 January 2011 A=F-FE+-F=+-H
k=5-——F-f-A 53,560 599,296 226,982 120,048 822 462,152 - 1462860 %
Profitand total comprehensiveincome ~ EREFRZ AREEE Z‘
for the year - - - - - 59,767 (121) 59,646 .
Appropriations B - - - 28972 - (2897 - - N
Capital contrioution from non-controling. R /E—TIHEAT =
interests of a subsidiary (note 31) SEERERTE (Wrs1) - - - - - - 40,074 40,074 g
At 31 December 2011 R_E—FT-A=1-A 53,560 599,296 226,982 149,020 822 492,947 39,953 1,562,580
Notes: Hiat -
a.  The balance represents deemed distribution, transfer a. ZERIER TR N\ ER_ETNFRALTENMETEESE
and deemed contribution arising group reorganisation for HERFEAEMRIEDIR « BB RAR R

listing purposes which took place in 2008 and 2009.

b.  The balance comprising statutory surplus reserve and b. ZERPRETDIREETEBRFEERNSRHREE  H%F
discretionary surplus reserve, which are non-distributable REETHEREDREREARLINE((HE ] BEERE
and the transfer to these reserves is determined TRARBENBARNESSREZSNEARMNAEZERR
according to the relevant laws in the People’s Republic of TE o AT RBREER BIERATFEEEER AR QR F B
China (“PRC”) and by the board of directors of the PRC BARIMEEINER - ISR FEER B EER AR 74 B S
subsidiaries in accordance with the Article of Associate ARIRFFH EERR

of the subsidiaries. Statutory surplus reserve can be
used to make up for previous year’s losses or convert
into additional capital of the PRC subsidiaries of the
Company. Discretionary surplus reserve can be used to
expand the existing operations of the Company’s PRC
subsidiaries.
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows %838 &

for the year ended 31 December 2011
BE_Z——H+-A=1+—-RALFE

OPERATING ACTIVITIES

Profit before tax

Adjustments for:

Impairment loss on trade receivables

Depreciation of property, plant and equipment
Finance costs

Release of prepaid lease payments

Loss from disposal of property, plant and equipment
Interest income

Operating cash flows before movements
in working capital
Increase in inventories
Increase in trade and other receivables
(Decrease) increase in trade and other payables

Cash (used in) generated from operations
Income tax paid

NET CASH (USED IN) FROM
OPERATING ACTIVITIES

INVESTING ACTIVITIES
Purchases of property, plant and equipment
Prepayment for acquisition of land use right
and buildings
Placement of pledged bank deposits
Payment of prepaid lease payments
Prepayment for acquisition of machinery
Proceeds from release of pledged bank deposits
Proceeds on disposal of property,
plant and equipment
Interest received
Advance to a director
Purchases of available-for-sale investments

NET CASH USED IN INVESTING ACTIVITIES

REEY

BR A A4 A

FUA T RIREH AR

B S RUIRRERE

M - BERRETE
BE KA
BEBEMESEREA
HEWE - BERRBER
FEHA

LEECEIRIL
REFRERE

FEEMN

85 ME M EAGRIRSE N

B 5 ME MR RIE ) 100

RE (MR EECRS
EARIFIEE

REEY (FrR) e
REFH

REEY

BEDME - BEMRE

BELERER
BFRENK

TR E EMRITER

X BEMNEERR

BERSRTANUR

FRER B IR IRITIF NPT 1S 30IR

HEWE - BB LERE
TS 300R

EHFE

BN —REFBHK

BEAHOERE

REFSFTAREFE

2=
1L

Bx

2011 2010
—B2——F —T-TF
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBT T ARET T
81,421 335,565
48,700 =
31,821 23,476
25,900 22,534
6,144 1,957
2,488 -
(1,744) (1,674)
194,730 381,858
(33,455) (95,569)
(411,158) (95,443)
(3,065) 60,581
(252,948) 251,427
(48,669) (42,213)
(301,617) 209,214
(141,301) (154,896)
(49,750) =
(30,859) (46,738)
(30,616) (189,381)
(5,761) (92,974)
30,936 74,428
1,991 =
1,744 1,674
- (5,520)
- (1,000)
(223,616) (414,407)




Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows ZEBRERER

for the year ended 31 December 2011

HE-S-——&+-A=+—ALEE
2011 2010
—B2——F —T-TF
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARETT ARETIT
FINANCING ACTIVITIES BEEE
New borrowings raised FILER 555,977 522,742
Repayments of borrowings EEER (388,499) (459,736)
Interest paid ERFE (25,900) (22,534)
Proceeds from issue of new shares ETHR D TS 08 - 652,513
Advance from a director b - 5,865
NET CASH FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES METHELECRESTFH 141,578 698,850
NET (DECREASE) INCREASE IN CASH AND HekESEEER
CASH EQUIVALENTS (R4 ) B hnFE &8 (383,655) 493,657 a7
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT FPRERREEEER
THE BEGINNING OF THE YEAR 518,105 24,448
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS FERBESRASEEER -
AT THE END OF YEAR,
represented by bank balances and cash BISR1T#E SR IR & 134,450 518,105
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for the year ended 31 December 2011
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GENERAL

The Company was incorporated as an exempted
company with limited liability in the Cayman Islands.
Its immediate and also the ultimate holding company
is Changfeng Axle Holdings Ltd. (incorporated in the
British Virgin Islands). The Company’s shares were
listed on the Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited
with effect from 24 September 2010. The address of
the Company’s registered office is at Room 708, 7/F,
Delta House, 3 On Yiu Street, Shatin, New Territories,
Hong Kong.

The principal activity of the Company is investment
holding. The principal activities of the Group
are manufacture and sale of axle and related
components in the People’s Republic of China
(“PRC”). Particulars of the subsidiaries of the
Company are set out in note 29.

The consolidated financial statements are presented
in Renminbi (“RMB”), which is also the functional
currency of the Company.

APPLICATION OF NEW AND REVISED HONG
KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS
(“HKFRSs”)

In the current year, the Group has applied the
following new and revised HKFRSs issued by the
Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants
(“HKICPA):

Amendments to HKFRSs
HEBYIEMELER (BT

HKAS 24 (as revised in 2009)
BB ERIE 2455 (ZZETNFLIEET)

Amendments to HKAS 32
BB G ERIZE 3258 (BRI A)

Amendments to HK(IFRIC)-Int 14

T8 (BARMBHRE2BRE®) 2B 145 (BRI )

HK(FRIC)-Int 19

T8 (BARMBHRE2BRE]) —2EE 195

—REHR

ARRRASHESTMNLAEREERAR - &
B M & & PEAR A 7] A Changfeng Axle Holdings Ltd.
(REBRELZBEESEMKRIL) - RARNRHNEE =
T—TFNA-ZTHABREEHEISMBRA
AlEM - ARANEMBREEABEH AV HETRE
HIMEERNE 7708 ©

ARBNEIEXRBR/REER - AERENTEXK
AR E ARLME ([ B ) 85k K 35 & E g M AT
AT BT - N FHIME A B BN MEE29 o

REMBHRRANEARARFDEEBHRAZARE
(TAREDIIR

FERFTET KA ERMBMERER ([ TR
HEER )

RAFE  AKBERATHNEEGHMAR(E
BRI AE ) EM 2] REERI BB HHR

R -

Improvements to HKFRSs issued in 2010
—E-TFRMGNEBIERE LR 2 BuE

Related Party Disclosures
B A TR

Classification of Rights Issues
iRz D8

Prepayments of a Minimum Funding Requirement
RIEE AR TE 2 AN A

Extinguishing Financial Liabilities with Equity
Instruments
BT AR RMaE



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements &5 B #3R R HizE

APPLICATION OF NEW AND REVISED HONG
KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS
(“HKFRSs”)-CONTINUED

The application of the new and revised HKFRSs in
the current year has had no material impact on the
Group’s financial performance and positions for the
current and prior years and on the disclosures set
out in these consolidated financial statements.

New and revised HKFRSs issued but not yet
effective

The Group has not early applied the following new
and revised HKFRSs that have been issued but are
not yet effective:

Amendments to HKFRS 7

N

FRMBREENE 75 (ERIA)

HKFRS 9
BAEMBGREEE IR

HKFRS 10
BAMBGREEAE 105

HKFRS 11
BAMBGREENE 115

HKFRS 12
BAMGREEUNE 125

HKFRS 13
BAMGREEE 135

Amendments to HKAS 1
HBSEERIZE 15 (BF]AN)

Amendments to HKAS 12
BBSEERIE 1258 (BF]AN)

2.

for the year ended 31 December 2011
HE-Z-——F1+-A=1—-ALFE

FERA#E] RARERT BB B|REER ([T BB
HmEER D) (&)

RAFERAZEN ] LB R BB HREER
I AR SR BN A R OB E R eI R MR
NRZEGRMEREMBERBEBENEATE -

BB RERNIT REEIT EBMBRERE
A

R B IR F A LA T 51 2 MR R i R AR 3
R RERT BB RELER :

Disclosures-Transfers of Financial Assets'
Disclosures-Offsetting Financial Assets and
Financial Liabilities?
Mandatory Effective Date of HKFRS 9 and
Transition Disclosures®
FE-ERemEE"
EE-HiEeREERSRAE?
BBV EERFE 95K
2 58 1 AR Ak B HA R 1 e B

Financial Instruments®
BT A

Consolidated Financial Statements?

NN R e

Joint Arrangements?
e B2

Disclosure of Interests in Other Entities?
REMEREERS 2 H T2

Fair Value Measurement?
AFE

Presentation of Iltems of Other Comprehensive
Income?®
Ht 2 EW=ER 2 251°

Deferred Tax-Recovery of Underlying Assets*
RIERTE — W EIAEE E
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements %5 B #3RRMzE

for the year ended 31 December 2011
BE_Z——H+-A=1+—-RALFE

APPLICATION OF NEW AND REVISED HONG
KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS
(“HKFRSs”) (CONTINUED)

New and revised HKFRS issued but not yet
effective (continued)

HKAS 19 (as revised in 2011)

ARG ERE 199 (2T ——FLIEEF])

HKAS 27 (as revised in 2011)
BAGTTERE 27 5% (ZE——F&IEET)

HKAS 28 (as revised in 2011)
BB ERIFE 285 (=T ——F&IEET)

FERA#E] RARERT BB B|REER ([T BB
HmEER D) (&)

E M E i ARERHET REBIT BB B RESE
Al (&)
Employee Benefits?

EEREH?

Separate Financial Statements?®

B 5 wK 2

Investments in Associates and Joint Ventures?
REEE R ARG ERFEIRE?

50 Amendments to HKAS 32 Offsetting Financial Assets and Financial Liabilities®
- ERGETAERZE 325 (5] A) HHemEEReHMARES
0
[3)
=)
= HK(IFRIC)-Int 20 Stripping Costs in the Production Phase of a Surface
Li Mine?
= B (ERIBRERELZE®) —Z2BFE 205 BRI A A R BR AR 2
o
g 1 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 July 1 REF——F+F—Hat 2 #FI5F/RRRIERN
= 2011.
3
§ 2 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 2 REF—=F—F—HatZ#FI5F/RZHRIEK
= January 2013
C
3
E 8 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 s REF—AF—F—Hat 2% FIEF/RRRIEN
» January 2015.
z
= 4 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 4 REF——F—F—Hat 2% FI5F/RHRIERK
z January 2012
2
-§ 5 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 July s REF——F+F—Hat % FIEF/RRRIEN
N 2012,
6 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 6 REF—FE—F—Hat2 # 15 F/RRRIERN
January 2014.

HKFRS 9 issued in 2009 introduces new
requirements for the classification and measurement
of financial assets. HKFRS 9 amended in 2010
includes the requirements for the classification
and measurement of financial liabilities and for
derecognition.

FRMBREENE R (N _FFNFRM) T
BENDBRFESIAFRE - BAMBHREEL
FIR (R _T—TFEF]) BREREEN D BN
ENRRIFERHRTE
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APPLICATION OF NEW AND REVISED HONG
KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS
(“HKFRSs”) (CONTINUED)

New and revised HKFRS issued but not yet
effective (continued)

HKFRS 9 requires all recognised financial assets
that are within the scope of HKAS 39 Financial
Instruments: Recognition and Measurement to
be subsequently measured at amortised cost or
fair value. Specifically, debt investments that are
held within a business model whose objective is to
collect the contractual cash flows, and that have
contractual cash flows that are solely payments of
principal and interest on the principal outstanding
are generally measured at amortised cost at the end
of subsequent accounting periods. All other debt
investments and equity investments are measured at
their fair values at the end of subsequent reporting
periods. In addition, under HKFRS 9, entities may
make an irrevocable election to present subsequent
changes in the fair value of an equity investment
(that is not held for trading) in other comprehensive
income, with only dividend income generally
recognised in profit or loss.

The directors have not yet performed a detailed
analysis of the impact of the application of this
Standard and hence have not qualified the extent of
the impact.

New and revised standards on consolidation,
joint arrangements, associates and disclosures
In June 2011, a package of five standards on
consolidation, joint arrangements, associates and
disclosures was issued, including HKFRS 10, HKFRS
11, HKFRS 12, HKAS 27 (as revised in 2011) and
HKAS 28 (as revised in 2011).

Key requirements of these five standards are
described below.

2.

for the year ended 31 December 2011
HE-Z-——F1+-A=1—-ALFE

FERFTET KA BB |MERER ([ TR
HEER ) ()

C A B RERB T REBTEBUBREE
R (4&)

BV BHELENEISRERAABE B S LR
FIMAFTA : R K ERBANEERE A
BEHROBBHAAIAFEFE - LHEE &
AREAFAEMENSBERANRSREMNEBR
B UARERXNAERAEEAEHENAGHR
SRENEHRE  —RORERSTHELERE
REHR AN E - B RMMEBRE MEAREY
RERSHHRGERKIZAFERE - 1H - RIB
FRWHHELRE W - BRAFL TR MEZE
B UREteEEE2 AR E (S ERER

B)RNTEzEEZS  REREWA—BNERRE
71

ESDAHRABZENZZEETFADN - Btk
EAMBRTETE -

A REETEBUBREEANRSH BER

B BERRARERE

R-F——FRA BT -ARBEREH B
BRH BERRREWRENER  BREFEVS
HEERIE105 - BEMBRSENF 115 - FE
MEmEEAF125 BESHEAF 27K (=F
——FR&EF) BB G ERE 28R (T ——F
RRIER]) ©

AT Rz ERRERNERER -
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APPLICATION OF NEW AND REVISED HONG
KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS
(“HKFRSs”) (CONTINUED)

New and revised standards on consolidation,
joint arrangements, associates and disclosures
(continued)

HKFRS 10 replaces the parts of HKAS 27
Consolidated and Separate Financial Statements that
deal with consolidated financial statements and HK
(SIC)-Int 12 Consolidation-Special Purpose Entities.
HKFRS 10 includes a new definition of control that
contains three elements: (a) power over an investee,
(b) exposure, or rights, to variable returns from its
involvement with the investee, and (c) the ability to
use its power over the investee to affect the amount
of the investor’s returns. Extensive guidance has
been added in HKFRS 10 to deal with complex
scenarios.

HKFRS 12 is a disclosure standard and is applicable
to entities that have interests in subsidiaries, joint
arrangements, associates and/or unconsolidated
structured entities. In general, the disclosure
requirements in HKFRS 12 are more extensive than
those in the current standards.

These five standards are effective for annual periods
beginning on or after 1 January 2013. Earlier
application is permitted provided that all of these five
standards are applied early at the same time.

The directors anticipate that these five standards
will be adopted in the Group’s consolidated financial
statements for the annual period beginning 1 January
2013. However, the directors have not yet performed
a detailed analysis of the impact of the application of
these Standards and hence have not yet quantified
the extent of the impact.

2.

FERFTET KA BB |MERER ([ TR
HEER ) ()

I REETEBUBREEANESH BER
B BEARARERE ()

HFEMEHRELERNE10RMA T HONT LG £
RIS 27 57 4R B MBI R KR P HNEIEREA MK
BERUALEE (BRMBHRERERES) RES
12MAR S —HFI A ERE - BAVBREEASE
105 BREEFHFEEN=—EARE : (REENE
A O HEREREENS R BESERD - UK
A ENEIRE () HIREELETERENUTER
KRELR - RNEBUBHREENF10RAMAFE
BV S| AR IBEREH 1B

M BHmELERE 125 BB LR FERRAA
BERFAEaNMBAR  BMELH BERF
R/ IREEHZEBEE - — R = - BEMB
BEENF12BABRBERLEBITREZEZRRE

ZERRENZABRAB/N T —=F—A—H=x
ZERBENFERE - REEABNARTEZSTR
TR T IR EMA o

EEEYZEFARENSN T —=F—A—HH
M FREARARNARENGS M BREEM - A
- EFDNAHRAZSFENZEETHFAD
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements &5 B #3R R HizE

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

The consolidated financial statements have been
prepared in accordance with Hong Kong Financial
Reporting Standards issued by the HKICPA. In
addition, the consolidated financial statements
include applicable disclosures required by the Rules
Governing the Listing of Securities on The Stock
Exchange of Hong Kong Limited and by the Hong
Kong Companies Ordinance.

The consolidated financial statements have been
prepared on the historical cost basis except for
certain financial instruments, that are measured at
fair values, as explained in accounting policies set out
below.

Basis of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements incorporate
the financial statements of the Company and entities
controlled by the Company (its subsidiaries). Control
is achieved where the Company has the power to
govern the financial and operating policies of an
entity so as to obtain benefits from its activities.

The results of subsidiaries acquired or disposed
of during the year are included in the consolidated
statement of comprehensive income from the
effective date of acquisition and up to the effective
date of disposal, as appropriate.

Where necessary, adjustments are made to the
financial statements of subsidiaries to bring their
accounting policies into line with those used by other
members of the Group.

All intra-group transactions, balances, income and
expenses are eliminated in full on consolidation.

Non-controlling interests in subsidiaries are
presented separately from the Group’s equity then.

Allocation of total comprehensive income to
non-controlling interests

Total comprehensive income and expense of
a subsidiary is attributed to the owners of the
Company and to the non-controlling interests even
if this results in the non-controlling interests having a
deficit balance.

3.

for the year ended 31 December 2011
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Changes in the Group’s ownership interests in
existing subsidiaries

Changes in the Group’s ownership interest in
subsidiaries that do not result in the Group losing
control over the subsidiary are accounted for as
equity transactions. The carrying amounts of the
Group’s interests and the non-controlling interests
are adjusted to reflect the changes in their relative
interests in the subsidiaries. Any difference between
the amount by which the non-controlling interests
are adjusted and the fair value of the consideration
paid or received is recognised directly in equity and
attributed to owners of the Company.

Business combinations

Acquisitions of businesses are accounted for using
the acquisition method. The consideration transferred
in a business combination is measured at fair value,
which is calculated as the sum of the acquisition-
date fair values of the assets transferred by the
Group, liabilities incurred by the Group to the former
owners of the acquiree and the equity interests
issued by the Group in exchange for control of the
acquiree. Acquisition-related costs are generally
recognised in profit or loss as incurred.

At the acquisition date, the identifiable assets
acquired and the liabilities assumed are recognised
at their fair values, except that:

° deferred tax assets or liabilities and liabilities
or assets related to employee benefit
arrangements are recognised and measured in
accordance with HKAS 12 Income Taxes and
HKAS 19 Employee Benefits respectively;

° liabilities or equity instruments related to share-
based payment arrangements of the acquiree
or share-based arrangements of the Group
entered into to replace share-based payment
arrangements of the acquiree are measured
in accordance with HKFRS 2 Share-based
Payment at the acquisition date (see the
accounting policies below); and

FEEEBER ()

FEERRENBARANERERESZEE

AEERMBARIBERESES MBS R LT
HEEIGIERRARH AR - NEBE MRS R IFE
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Wﬁfm N HEBSEAEZRE RN ST ERL

BERAREEAA -
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BUARFEFE  IASEERNEENKE A H
MAYE  AEEHERKESTAEEANRERAE
KEARBRWEE T IR HIR M BT R A SRR
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Business combinations (continued)

o assets (or disposal groups) that are classified
as held for sale in accordance with HKFRS
5 Non-current Assets Held for Sale and
Discontinued Operations are measured in
accordance with that standard.

Goodwill is measured as the excess of the sum of
the consideration transferred, the amount of any non-
controlling interests in the acquiree, and the fair value
of the acquirer’s previously held equity interest in the
acquiree (if any) over the net of the acquisition-date
amounts of the identifiable assets acquired and the
liabilities assumed. If, after re-assessment, the net
of the acquisition-date amounts of the identifiable
assets acquired and liabilities assumed exceeds the
sum of the consideration transferred, the amount of
any non-controlling interests in the acquiree and the
fair value of the acquirer’s previously held interest
in the acquiree (if any), the excess is recognised
immediately in profit or loss as a bargain purchase
gain.

Non-controlling interests may be initially measured
either at fair value or at the non-controlling interests’
proportionate share of the recognised amounts of
the acquiree’s identifiable net assets. The choice of
measurement basis is made on a transaction-by-
transaction basis.

Where a business combination is achieved in stages,
the Group’s previously held equity interest in the
acquiree is remeasured to fair value at the acquisition
date (i.e. the date when the Group obtains control)
and the resulting gain or loss, if any, is recognised in
profit or loss.

Changes in the fair value of the previously held equity
interest recognised in other comprehensive income
and accumulated in equity before the acquisition
date are reclassified to profit or loss when the Group
obtains control over the acquiree.

for the year ended 31 December 2011
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements &4

for the year ended 31 December 2011
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Revenue recognition

Revenue is measured at the fair value of the
consideration received or receivable and represents
amounts receivable for goods sold in the normal
course of business, net of discounts and sales
related taxes.

Revenue from the sale of goods is recognised when
the goods are delivered and titles have passed, at
which time all the following conditions are satisfied:

° the Group has transferred to the buyer the
significant risks and rewards of ownership of
the goods;

° the Group retains neither continuing managerial
involvement to the degree usually associated
with ownership nor effective control over the
goods sold;

° the amount of revenue can be measured
reliably;

o it is probable that the economic benefits
associated with the transaction will flow to the
Group; and

o the costs incurred or to be incurred in respect
of the transaction can be measured reliably.

Interest income from a financial asset is recognised
when it is probable that the economic benefits will
flow to the Group and the amount of income can be
measured reliably. Interest income is accrued on a
time basis, by reference to the principal outstanding
and at the effective interest rate applicable, which
is the rate that exactly discounts the estimated
future cash receipts through the expected life of the
financial asset to that asset’s net carrying amount on
initial recognition.

Leasing

Leases are classified as finance leases whenever the
terms of the lease transfer substantially all the risks
and rewards of ownership to the lessee. All other
leases are classified as operating leases.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements &5 B #3R R HizE

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Leasing (continued)

The Group as lessee

Operating lease payments are recognised as an
expense on a straight-line basis over the lease term,
except where another systematic basis is more
representative of the time pattern in which economic
benefits from the leased asset are consumed.

Foreign currencies

In preparing the financial statements of each
individual group entity, transactions in currencies
other than the functional currency of that entity
(foreign currencies) are recorded in the respective
functional currency (i.e. the currency of the primary
economic environment in which the entity operates)
at the rates of exchanges prevailing on the dates of
the transactions. At the end of the reporting period,
monetary items denominated in foreign currencies
are retranslated at the rates prevailing at that date.
Non-monetary items that are measured in terms
of historical cost in a foreign currency are not
retranslated.

Exchange differences arising on the settlement of
monetary items, and on the retranslation of monetary
items, are recognised in profit or loss in the period in
which they arise.

Borrowing costs

Borrowing costs directly attributable to the
acquisition, construction or production of qualifying
assets, which are assets that necessarily take a
substantial period of time to get ready for their
intended use or sale, are added to the cost of those
assets until such time as the assets are substantially
ready for their intended use or sale.

All other borrowing costs are recognised in profit or
loss in the period in which they are incurred.

Government grants

Government grants are not recognised until there
is reasonable assurance that the Group will comply
with the conditions attaching to them and that the
grants will be received.

for the year ended 31 December 2011
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Government grants (continued)

Government grants are recognised in profit or
loss on a systematic basis over the periods in
which the Group recognises as expenses the
related costs for which the grants are intended
to compensate. Specifically, government grants
whose primary condition is that the Group should
purchase, construct or otherwise acquire non-
current assets are recognised as deferred income in
the consolidated statement of financial position and
transferred to profit or loss over the useful lives of the
related assets.

Government grants that are receivable as
compensation for expenses or losses already
incurred or for the purpose of giving immediate
financial support to the Group with no future related
costs are recognised in profit or loss in the period in
which they become receivable.

Retirement benefit costs

Payments made to state-managed retirement
benefit scheme are recognised as an expense when
employees have rendered service entiting them to
the contributions.

Taxation
Income tax expense represents the sum of the tax
currently payable and deferred tax.

The tax currently payable is based on taxable
profit for the year. Taxable profit differs from profit
as reported in the consolidated statement of
comprehensive income because it excludes items
of income or expense that are taxable or deductible
in other years and it further excludes items that are
never taxable or deductible. The Group’s liability for
current tax is calculated using tax rates that have
been enacted or substantively enacted by the end of
the reporting period.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Taxation (continued)

Deferred tax is recognised on temporary differences
between the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities
in the consolidated financial statements and the
corresponding tax bases used in the computation
of taxable profit. Deferred tax liabilities are generally
recognised for all taxable temporary differences.
Deferred tax assets are generally recognised for all
deductible temporary differences to the extent that
it is probable that taxable profits will be available
against which those deductible temporary differences
can be utilised. Such assets and liabilities are not
recognised if the temporary difference arises from
the initial recognition (other than in a business
combination) of other assets and liabilities in a
transaction that affects neither the taxable profit nor
the accounting profit.

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for taxable
temporary differences associated with investments
in subsidiaries, except where the Group is able to
control the reversal of the temporary difference
and it is probable that the temporary difference
will not reverse in the foreseeable future. Deferred
tax assets arising from deductible temporary
differences associated with such investments are
only recognised to the extent that it is probable that
there will be sufficient taxable profits against which
to utilise the benefits of the temporary differences
and they are expected to reverse in the foreseeable
future.

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is
reviewed at the end of the reporting period and
reduced to the extent that it is no longer probable
that sufficient taxable profits will be available to allow
all or part of the asset to be recovered.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at
the tax rates that are expected to apply in the period
in which the liability is settled or the asset is realised,
based on tax rate (and tax laws) that have been
enacted or substantively enacted by the end of the
reporting period.

for the year ended 31 December 2011
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements &4

for the year ended 31 December 2011
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Taxation (continued)

The measurement of deferred tax liabilities and
assets reflects the tax consequences that would
follow from the manner in which the Group expects,
at the end of the reporting period, to recover or settle
the carrying amount of its assets and liabilities.

Current and deferred tax is recognised in profit
or loss, except when it relates to items that are
recognised in other comprehensive income or directly
in equity, in which case, the current and deferred tax
are also recognised in other comprehensive income
or directly in equity respectively. Where current tax
or deferred tax arises from the initial accounting for a
business combination, the tax effect is included in the
accounting for the business combination.

Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment including buildings
held for use in the production or supply of goods
or services, or for administrative purposes (other
than construction in progress) are stated in the
consolidated statement of financial position at cost
less subsequent accumulated depreciation and
accumulated impairment losses, if any.

Depreciation is recognised so as to write off the cost
of items of property, plant and equipment (other than
construction in progress) less their residual values
over their estimated useful lives, using the straight-
line method. The estimated useful lives, residual
values and depreciation method are reviewed at the
end of the reporting period, with the effect of any
changes in estimate accounted for on a prospective
basis.

Construction in progress includes property, plant
and equipment in the course of construction for
its own use purposes. Construction in progress
is carried at cost, less any recognised impairment
loss. Construction in progress is classified to
the appropriate category of property, plant and
equipment when completed and ready for intended
use. Depreciation of these assets, on the same basis
as other property assets, commences when the
assets are ready for their intended use.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements &5 B #3R R HizE

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Property, plant and equipment (continued)

An item of property, plant and equipment is
derecognised upon disposal or when no future
economic benefits are expected to arise from the
continued use of the asset. Any gain or loss arising
on the disposal or retirement of an item of property,
plant and equipment is determined as the difference
between the sales proceeds and the carrying amount
of the asset and is recognised in profit or loss.

Research and development expenditure
Expenditure on research activities is recognised as
an expense in the period in which it is incurred.

Prepaid lease payments

Prepaid lease payments representing land use rights
in the PRC are stated at cost and amortised on a
straight-line basis over the lease terms. Prepaid
lease payments which are to be amortised in the
next twelve months or less are classified as current
assets.

Impairment of non-current assets other than
financial assets

At the end of reporting period, the Group reviews
the carrying amounts of its non-current assets other
than financial assets to determine whether there
is any indication that those assets have suffered
an impairment loss. If the recoverable amount of
an asset is estimated to be less than its carrying
amount, the carrying amount of the asset is reduced
to its recoverable amount. An impairment loss is
recognised as an expense immediately.

Where an impairment loss subsequently reverses,
the carrying amount of the asset is increased to
the revised estimate of its recoverable amount,
but so that the increased carrying amount does
not exceed the carrying amount that would have
been determined had no impairment loss been
recognised for the asset in prior years. A reversal
of an impairment loss is recognised as income
immediately.

for the year ended 31 December 2011
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements &4

for the year ended 31 December 2011
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Inventories

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and
net realisable value. Cost is calculated using the
weighted average method. Net realisable value
represents the estimated selling price for inventories
less all estimated costs of completion and costs
necessary to model the axle.

Provisions

Provisions are recognised when the Group has a
present obligation as a result of a past event, and
it is probable that the Group will be required to
settle that obligation, and a reliable estimate can be
made of the amount of the obligation. Provisions are
measured at the best estimate of the consideration
required to settle the present obligation at the end
of the reporting period, taking into account the risks
and uncertainties surrounding the obligation. Where a
provision is measured using the cash flows estimated
to settle the present obligation, its carrying amount
is the present value of those cash flows (where the
effect of the time value of money is material).

Financial instruments

Financial assets and liabilities are recognised in the
consolidated statement of financial position when
a group entity becomes a party to the contractual
provisions of the instrument.

Financial assets and financial liabilities are initially
measured at fair value. Transaction costs directly
attributable to the acquisition or issue of financial
assets and liabilities (other than financial assets or
financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss)
are added to or deducted from the fair value of
financial assets or financial liabilities, as appropriate,
on initial recognition.

Financial assets

The Group’s financial assets are classified into loans
and receivables and available-for-sale financial
assets. The classification depends on the nature and
purpose of the financial assets and is determined at
the time of initial recognition.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Financial instruments (continued)
Financial assets (continued)

Effective interest method

The effective interest method is a method of
calculating the amortised cost of a financial asset and
of allocating interest income over the relevant period.
The effective interest rate is the rate that exactly
discounts estimated future cash receipts (including
all fees paid or received that form an integral part
of the effective interest rate, transaction costs and
other premiums or discounts) through the expected
life of the financial asset, or, where appropriate, a
shorter period to the net carrying amount on initial
recognition.

Interest income is recognised on an effective interest
basis for debt instruments.

Loans and receivables

Loans and receivables are non-derivative financial
assets with fixed or determinable payments that
are not quoted in an active market. Subsequent to
initial recognition, loans and receivables (including
trade receivables, bills receivable, other receivables,
amount due from a director, pledged bank deposits
and bank balances and cash) are measured at
amortised cost using the effective interest method,
less any identified impairment losses.

Available-for-sale financial assets

Available-for-sale financial assets are non-derivatives
that are either designated or not classified as financial
assets at fair value through profit and loss, loans and
receivables or held-to-maturity investments.

Available-for-sale financial assets are measured at
fair value at the end of the reporting period. Changes
in fair value are recognised in other comprehensive
income and accumulated in investment revaluation
reserve, until the financial asset is disposed of or
is determined to be impaired, at which time the
cumulative gain or loss previously accumulated in
the investment revaluation reserve is reclassified to
profit or loss (see accounting policy on impairment on
financial assets below).

for the year ended 31 December 2011
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES FESTBEE (#)
(CONTINUED)

Financial instruments (continued) BT B ()
Financial assets (continued) SRIEE (&)
Impairment of financial assets EREERE

Financial assets are assessed for indicators of
impairment at the end of the reporting period.
Financial assets are considered to be impaired where
there is objective evidence that, as a result of one or
more events that occurred after the initial recognition
of the financial asset, the estimated future cash flows
of the financial assets have been affected.

For an available-for-sale equity investment, a
significant or prolonged decline in the fair value of
that investment below its cost is considered to be
objective evidence of impairment.

For other financial assets, objective evidence of
impairment could include:

o significant financial difficulty of the issuer or
counterparty; or
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e  breach of contract, such as default or o ERAH WHERAEIMEELRIEX
delinquency in interest and principal payments; Bk
or

e it becoming probable that the borrower will e BRATRKEEWESMBEEMS -

enter bankruptcy or financial re-organisation.

For certain categories of financial assets, such as
trade receivables, assets that are assessed not to
be impaired individually are, in addition, assessed for
impairment on a collective basis. Objective evidence
of impairment for a portfolio of receivables could
include the Group’s past experience of collecting
payments, an increase in the number of delayed
payments in the portfolio past the average credit
period, observable changes in national or local
economic conditions that correlate with default on
receivables.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Financial instruments (continued)
Financial assets (continued)

Impairment of financial assets (continued)

For financial assets carried at amortised cost, the
amount of the impairment loss recognised is the
difference between the assets’ carrying amount and
the present value of estimated future cash flows
discounted at the financial asset’s original effective
interest rate.

The carrying amount of the financial asset is reduced
by the impairment loss directly for all financial assets
with the exception of trade receivables, where the
carrying amount is reduced through the use of an
allowance account. Changes in the carrying amount
of the allowance account are recognised in profit
or loss. When a trade receivable is considered
uncollectible, it is written off against the allowance
account. Subsequent recoveries of amounts
previously written off are credited to profit or loss.

When an available-for-sale financial asset is
considered to be impaired, cumulative gains or
losses previously recognised in other comprehensive
income are reclassified to profit or loss in the period
in which the impairment takes place.

For financial assets measured at amortised cost, if, in
a subsequent period, the amount of the impairment
loss decreases and the decrease can be related
objectively to an event occurring after the impairment
loss was recognised, the previously recognised
impairment loss is reversed through profit or loss to
the extent that the carrying amount of the asset at
the date the impairment is reversed does not exceed
what the amortised cost would have been had the
impairment not been recognised.

for the year ended 31 December 2011
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Financial instruments (continued)
Financial assets (continued)

Impairment of financial assets (continued)
Impairment losses on available-for-sale equity
investments will not be reversed through profit
or loss. Any increase in fair value subsequent to
impairment loss is recognised directly in other
comprehensive income and accumulated in
investment revaluation reserve. For available-for-
sale debt investments, impairment losses are
subsequently reversed through profit or loss if an
increase in the fair value of the investment can be
objectively related to an event occurring after the
recognition of the impairment loss.

Financial liabilities and equity instruments
Financial liabilities and equity instruments issued by
the Group are classified as either financial liabilities
or as equity in accordance with the substance of the
contractual arrangements and the definitions of a
financial liability and an equity instrument.

Equity instruments

An equity instrument is any contract that evidences
a residual interest in the assets of the Group after
deducting all of its liabilities. Equity instruments
issued by the Group are recognised at the proceeds
received, net of direct issue costs.

Effective interest method

The effective interest method is a method of
calculating the amortised cost of a financial liability
and of allocating interest expense over the relevant
period. The effective interest rate is the rate that
exactly discounts estimated future cash payments
through the expected life of the financial liability,
or, where appropriate, a shorter period, to the net
carrying amount on initial recognition.

Interest expense is recognised on an effective
interest basis.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Financial instruments (continued)

Financial liabilities and equity instruments
(continued)

Effective interest method (continued)

The Group’s financial liabilities, which include trade
and other payables, amount due to a director and
borrowings, are initially measured at fair value and
are subsequently measured at amortised cost using
the effective interest method.

Equity instruments issued by the Group are recorded
at the proceeds received, net of direct issue cost.

Derecognition

The Group derecognises a financial asset only
when the contractual rights to the cash flows from
the asset expire, or when it transfers the financial
asset and substantially all the risks and rewards
of ownership of the asset to another entity. If the
Group neither transfers nor retains substantially all
the risks and rewards of ownership and continues to
control the transferred asset, the Group continues
to recognise the asset to the extent of its continuing
involvement and recognises an associated liability.
If the Group retains substantially all the risks and
rewards of ownership of a transferred financial asset,
the Group continues to recognise the financial asset
and also recognises a collateralised borrowing for the
proceeds received.

The Group derecognises a financial liability when,
and only when, the Group’s obligations are
discharged, cancelled or expire. The difference
between the carrying amount of the financial liability
derecognised and the consideration paid and
payable is recognised in profit or loss.

for the year ended 31 December 2011
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements &4

for the year ended 31 December 2011

BE

—E-—Et=A=t-ALEE

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGMENTS
AND KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION
UNCERTAINTY

In the application of the Group’s accounting policies,
which are described in note 3, the management
is required to make judgments, estimates and
assumptions about the carrying amounts of assets
and liabilities that are not readily apparent from other
sources. The estimates and associated assumptions
are based on historical experience and other factors
that are considered to be relevant. Actual results may
differ from these estimates.

The estimates and underlying assumptions are
reviewed on an ongoing basis. Revisions to
accounting estimates are recognised in the period
in which the estimate is revised if the revision affects
only that period, or in the period of the revision and
future periods if the revision affects both current and
future periods.

Key sources of estimation uncertainty

The following are the key assumptions concerning
the future, and other key sources of estimation
uncertainty at the end of the reporting period,
that have a significant risk of causing a material
adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and
liabilities within the next twelve months.

(@) Useful lives of property, plant and

equipment

The Group’s management determines the
estimated useful lives and related depreciation
charges for its property, plant and equipment.
This estimate is based on the historical
experience of the actual useful lives of property,
plant and equipment of similar nature and
functions. Management will increase the
depreciation charge where useful lives are
expected to be shorter than estimated, or it
will write-off or write-down obsolete or non-
strategic assets that have been abandoned or
sold. Change in these estimations may have a
material impact on the results of the Group.

MR AR M o

EASFHE R AT IAREREZERR

RIERMFE S Tt M AR B & 5T BORES - B EAY
U ARGEEZFHEMEECRENEERABENREE
T’Eﬁ#ﬂﬁﬁ CRPES 15.#&*@?%1?‘“)3%5’\&5

EEBRLEMEAESERNEE - BRERTEE
EZTJE.#TH°

fAET MR RS IR R A A R - WY &R
ATEVERTERE —BAIM - RMER R RERT A9
AR Y T EFTAER] - HHEFTZE BRI AR
KR A ETMERT MR KA T oARER -

st TRERZEEZRIR
NTRAELEBEHARRT —_EAANEERBER
HEFHEAAERNEARARNEEAREIER
R ARRREMRNEMGEF T EERZNEER
KR

(@) %% BERRENEAFH

AEBEEBREEME - BEMREHOREE
ERFHREMTESRE - WA HERER
HEE RBERIINYIR - BB RZENERE
REHRBELR - nfERFRRESRAE
RESESHH MR RERHENRESK
FEREER  BEEEMEMTESHE - ZF
AR E AR ARENEEABREAY
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for the year ended 31 December 2011
HE-Z-——F1+-A=1—-ALEFE

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGMENTS 4, BAETHABRMAFTTIRERZZERR (H)
AND KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION
UNCERTAINTY (CONTINUED)

Key sources of estimation uncertainty BEr T EERZEERIR (F)
(continued)

(b) Estimated impairment of trade receivables (b) E3EWRIENGREE

When there is objective evidence of impairment HWEFEREEENEEEE AEEeERA
loss, the Group takes into consideration the RIREREMET - BEBESBNREERA
estimation of future cash flows. The amount BE2BEMGGTRARRERE(TEERKRES
of the impairment loss is measured as the WARREEBR)NRECHNERETE - I
difference between the asset’s carrying amount SRERMEENRRERFE(BIRVI L ER
and the present value of estimated future RIETE R ERFR)BEIR - MERAKRE SR
cash flows (excluding future credit losses SLRTEH - AIRREEEE XREERE - K=
that have not been incurred) discounted at T——F+-_A=+—H BZEKFIBEHNIR
the financial asset’s original effective interest A & AR ¥ 483,412,000 7t (1B 8 B &
rate (i.e. the effective interest rate computed BAR48,700,0007T) (ZE—FF : AR
at initial recognition). Where the actual future 390,466,0007T * MBRAEEEARKEZT)

cash flows are less than expected, a material
impairment loss may arise. As at 31 December
2011, the carrying amount of trade receivables
is approximately RMB483,412,000 (net of
impairment loss of RMB48,700,000) (2010:
RMB390,466,000 net of impairment loss of

RMBhil).

(c) Impairment of inventories (c) HFERME
The Group records inventories at the lower of AN BIRAK AN 5k A B3R R E (ABREE A% ¥
cost and net realisable value. Net realisable FEAK - IR S EATFENMEFTEERIE
value is the estimated selling price for AEET e AN M ETT S S TR RIAKAS o

inventories, less all the estimated costs of
completion and costs necessary to make the

sales.

Operational procedures have been in place to HRAAREBEE KD SEE S INAEEE I
monitor the risk as a significant proportion of FE  EREFRTEERFUAERRERE - B
the Group’s of working capital is devoted to BEREr EEECHMREFEENFEER
inventories. Procedure-wise, the management BE o WP REBRREGFERB MWEREERE
reviews the inventory aging listing on a Ao &IEE - BHNAKTEEE BRI &R
regular basis for those aged inventories. This R (AP R S TE B B - BB ARE
involves comparison of carrying value of the EEHERTENEZFE  HERIHEER
aged inventory items with the respective net TG MNTFERNER A #REE -

realisable value. The purpose is to ascertain
whether allowance is required to be made
in the financial statements for any obsolete
and slow-moving items. Although the Group
carried periodic review on the net realisable
value of inventory, the actual realisable value
of inventory is not known until the sales take
place.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements &4

for the year ended 31 December 2011

BE

—E-—Et=A=t-ALEE

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGMENTS
AND KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION
UNCERTAINTY (CONTINUED)

Key sources of estimation uncertainty
(continued)

(d) Provision for warranty claims

Provision for warranty is made based on the
possible claims on the products by customers
with reference to the warranty coverage period
and the percentage of warranty expenses
incurred over total sales amounts during
the financial year. In case where the actual
claims are greater than expected, a material
increase in warranty expenses may arise,
which would be recognised in profit or loss for
the period in which such a claim takes place.
Warranty provision has been included in trade
and other payables with carrying amount of
approximately RMB1,088,000 at 31 December
2011 (2010: RMB1,039,000) (note 22).

CAPITAL RISK MANAGEMENT

The Group manages its capital to ensure that entities
in the Group will be able to continue as a going
concern while maximizing the return to shareholders
through optimization of the debt and equity balance.
The Group’s overall strategy remains unchanged
from prior year.

The capital structure of the Group consists of net
debts (which include bank and other borrowings),
cash and cash equivalents and equity attributable to
owners of the Company, comprising share capital,
share premium, capital and special reserves, surplus
reserves and retained earnings.

The directors of the Group review the capital
structure periodically. As part of this review, the
directors consider the cost of capital and the risks
associated with each class of capital and will balance
its overall capital structure through the payment of
dividends, new share issues as well as the issue of
new debt or the redemption of existing debt.

4.

MR AR M o

EARSFHE R AT ARERZEERR (&)

fEEt P RERRERRIF (F)

(d) RERERE
RIEBRBHR2EREBRHEALEEENR
ERS AR RFERENBHESENE LR
EFHEMMAEREMEL - MERRER
BHAZ  AMREF A REREIR I - MLt
RIELRENHENESER - R=FT——F
T A=+ BARERBEREEFAEZ R
fth FETRIBAY R AR EE 1,088,000 T(=ZE—=F
& AK¥1,039,0007T) (FffzE22) °

BEXEET

AEETREBEARAERANEEANERASERE
R R B BE(CER MRS AR RTREK
REH - REBHNEEREREFEFTTE -

SEMNEEGRERFES (AP ERRITREM
) REFREFEHB RARAEB ARGE
@ R ERmRA - ROEE  BERRSRIFERE
BEEERRE ER

$E@§$E@§@§$ Efg - (EREBA—IB

CEEEFAARARESEEANRBNRE
I%@ﬂiﬁhg BT A R BT E B |
REEH T EHEREE AR -



6.

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

Categories of financial instruments

6. MKIA

(@) HMBTAER

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements &5 B R KM=

for the year ended 31 December 2011
BE-_Z——F+-A=+t-HLEE

Carrying amount

BREE
Financial 2011 2010
instrument —E——F —E-FF
classification RMB’000 RMB’000
B IAESE AR%T T AREBT T
Financial assets
SREE
Trade and other receivables Loans and receivables
B 5 R E M EKRIA SR N FIE 707,980 396,391
Pledged bank deposits Loans and receivables
BEBRITIFER SR FIE 2,100 2,177
Bank balances and cash Loans and receivables
RITREBERE B NRIA 134,450 518,105 o
Available-for-sale investments Available-for-sale =
AEHERE financial assets
AHEESREE 1,000 1,000 it
<
845,530 917,673 .
Financial liabilities .
SRIBE =
Trade and other payables® At amortised cost g
B 5 N H MR RIE* R HR AR 216,026 227,343
Amount due to a director At amortised cost
e —REEHIE R HR AR 1,500 800
Borrowings At amortised cost
& R HR AR 495,928 328,450
713,454 556,593
* Excluded advances from customers, warranty * TEEREEFREL - EFHRIE - EMENTHERE

accrual, other tax payables and accruals. FTACH o
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements &5 B #3RRMizE

for the year ended 31 December 2011
BE_Z——HF+-A=1+—-RALFE

6. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (CONTINUED)

(b)

(c)

Financial risk management objectives and
policies

The Group’s major financial instruments include
trade and other receivables, pledged bank
deposits, cash and bank balances, trade and
other payables, amount due to a director and
borrowings. Details of the financial instruments
are disclosed in the respective notes. The risks
associated with these financial instruments
included market risk (currency risk, interest rate
risk and other price risk), credit risk and liquidity
risk. The policies on how to mitigate these risks
are set out below. The management manages
and monitors these exposures to ensure
appropriate measures are implemented on a
timely and effective manner.

Currency risk

Certain bank balances of the Group are
denominated in foreign currencies. The Group
currently does not have a foreign currency
hedging policy. However, the management
monitors foreign exchange exposure and will
consider hedging significant foreign currency
exposure should the need arise.

The carrying amounts of the Group’s foreign
currency denominated monetary assets at the
end of the reporting period are as follows:

EZ(E D)
BB

United States dollars (“US$”)
Hong Kong dollars (‘HK$”)

6. HBIAGE)

(b)

(c)

cHEREERERBER

AEETEVBTARREE S RWGRNEM
FEURIR - CHERRITER  BEeRRITHE
& BHRNTAREMENTE  BNES
RIBMER - MBTAFBENE B MHERE -
BERMBTANRREBREMSEAR(BREER
Bk FIxRERIEEBERER) FERR
R R o N E IR EZE R KR K
R BEEEEIERERZFTE L AR MR
BRRBEEHEE ©

B mk

AREEE TRITEBRAINEIIE - REBEIRE
WEHNELIPERER - AT - BIEEEZELE
BREEREHERINERRSEREE -

RBEHR - NREBAINESIENEEEER
EERT

Assets
EE

2011 2010
—E——%F —E—ZF
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®T AREFIT
5,126 1,133
1,651 10,722




Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements &5 B #3R R MizE

6. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (CONTINUED)

(c)

Currency risk (continued)

Sensitivity analysis

The following table details the Group’s
sensitivity to a 2% increase and decrease in
RMB, the functional currency of the respective
group entities, against the relevant foreign
currencies for the years ended 31 December
2011 and 2010. The sensitivity rate represents
management’s assessment of the reasonably
possible change in foreign exchange rates
with reference to historical fluctuation of
foreign exchange rates during the year. The
sensitivity analysis includes only outstanding
foreign currency denominated monetary items
and adjusts their translation at 31 December
2011 and 2010 for a corresponding change
in foreign currencies rates. A negative number
below indicates a decrease in post-tax profit for
the year where the RMB strengthens against
the relevant currencies. For a weakening of
RMB against the relevant currency, there would
be an equal and opposite impact on the post-
tax profit for the year.

Us$ ETT
HK$ BT

The bank balances denominated in foreign
currencies fluctuated throughout the year
and in management’s opinion, the sensitivity
analysis is unrepresentative of the inherent
foreign exchange risk as the year end exposure
does not reflect the exposure during the year.

for the year ended 31 December 2011
HE-Z-——F1+-A=1—-ALEFE

6. HBIAGE)

(c)

B mk (%)

BREDN
TREFMEE-T——FR_FT-ZTF+=A
=+—HLEFE  AEERHAREAEREE
2%MBREE - SEBEERBNINAEE R K AERISN
EAEMRENSRE - ZBUKIEEEEEL
REFNBEBERFEE - HIHNEEXRSERK S
EH AT  BURE D ITE B IE A M SRINE ST
ENE®EE TR T FR T TF
+Z A=+ — A EREEHRERINEIE KGR
BEHFAE - U TESAETR  WARKE K AAE
EEAE AIFAFRBRMARD - EARER
HAEBREMNS  EHFATRBRMNNTE
ISR &R -

2011 2010
—2——F —TFF
RMB’000 RMB'000
ARMTR  ARBTT
(98) (21)

32) (208)

POSNEFHERMRITRABRBEFEE RS RER
EBRR  ARNFRERIYRRRFARE - &
BREDM A FEE B INERE ©
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for the year ended 31 December 2011
BE_Z——HF+-A=1+—-RALFE

6.

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (CONTINUED)

(d)

Interest rate risk

Interest rate risk is the risk that the fair value or
future cash flows of a financial instrument will
fluctuate because of changes in market interest
rates. The Group is exposed to cash flow
interest rate risk on the variable rate of interest
earned on the pledged bank deposits and bank
balances. The Group’s borrowings have fixed
interest rates and therefore, are subject to fair
value interest rate risk.

Sensitivity analysis

The following analysis is prepared assuming
the financial instruments outstanding at the
end of the reporting period were outstanding
for the whole year and all other variables were
held constant. A 25 basis point (2010: 25
basis points) increase or decrease is used
when reporting interest rate risk internally to
key management personnel and represents
management’s assessment of the reasonably
possible change in interest rates.

For those bank balances with interest rate of
0.001% per annum, the analysis below reflects
the sensitivity that the interest rate may drop
to 0%. The pre-tax profit for the year would
increase/(decrease) as follows:

FF25 (EEE
T Bk 25 fEEE,

25 basis points higher
25 basis points lower

The Group monitors interest rate exposure and
will consider hedging significant interest rate
exposure should the need arise.

6.

M ITA (&)

(d)

R m

MNERBRAS—EVFETANRKRASRENA
B B T 355 M) 2R A B TR B AT s SR D LB
AR BN B R R ERTT 17 5K S SR 465 2R P RN A
M ERN R EME SRS REN AR - A
SEOERABEN XS - REDFENE
R E -

BRED T

AT D 2 #m B IO RE& I8R5 HAPK i R A 1 75
TAREEFRERARENMAEEMEEER
TE - fifm EEEIEABELARREHF X
R B E M KRB & S - AE
RAtEsRE2s EERM (ZF—F4F : 6@ K
Bh)

FHZEF X F0.001%HRITEEER TS - AT
DT RBRA R AT BEBR E0% M BURE - FRFRTR
AR AR OR ) T

2011 2010
—2——F —TFF
RMB’000 RMB'000
ARMTR  ARBTE
341 1,301

(324) (1,276)

A BB AR R A - I B B
EAFEER -
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6. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (CONTINUED)

(e)

()

Other price risk

The Group is exposed to other price risk
through its investments fund (as disclosed in
note 17) as at 31 December 2011. If the price
of the investment fund had been 5% higher/
lower, the Group’s investment valuation reserve
would increase/decrease by approximately
RMB50,000 for the year ended 31 December
2011 as a result of the changes in fair value of
investment fund.

Credit risk

Credit risk is the risk of an unexpected loss if a
customer or third party to a financial asset fails
to meet its contractual obligations.

The Group has concentration of credit risk at
10.5% (2010: 4%) and 22.7% (2010: 10.2%)
of the total trade receivables was due from the
Group’s largest customer and the five largest
customers respectively. The Group also has
concentration of credit risk by geographical
location as trade and bills receivable comprise
various debtors which are located in PRC.

The Group manages this risk by reviewing the
recoverable amount of each individual trade
debt at the end of reporting period to ensure
that adequate impairment losses are made for
irrecoverable amounts.

In September 2011, due to the downturn of
economy, the Company set up a committee
(“Committee”) to focus on the settlement of
the trade receivables. The Committee regularly
reviewed, discussed and analyzed the status
of trade receivables on a weekly or monthly
basis. Based on the nature of customers, the
Committee classified the customers to different
portfolios for analysis. The works of Committee
included understanding of background,
financial strength, sales and repayment of each
portfolio.

for the year ended 31 December 2011
HE-Z-——F1+-A=1—-ALEFE

6. UBITAGE

(e)

(f

HibERRER

R_ZT——F+_A=+—H0 XEFAREKE
PIREES GRINHTEE 17 FriReE ) A F M ER
BB o iR EESHER LA T]E% - K&
EREE—E——F+-A=1+—HILEEN
WEGERESREEESAFENEE ML
/A% AR 50,000 7T °

FERR
FERRAFN—RERMEENTFXE=TK
EERTTHANAEEMELEINEENRER -

REBFHRAGE S REWKBLEE10.5%(—F—
TAE 1 4%) B 22.7% (ZZFE—FF : 10.2%) HY
FEEEHRAK PRIREBAEENGATE R
AAEFE - HRZ A EME S EWIE K EKR
ZENEFATINRP R - AR EE fEii -
MR EERBRERER

AEEFZBERENBEHRZERE S EHH
A E G EER L ERER - KMERD TR
Wim & R IF R SRR ER IR B o

R-ZFB——FNA BREERR  ARAEIR
V—EREE([RE8&)) UBIE SRR
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BE_Z——HF+-A=1+—-RALFE

6.

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (CONTINUED)

U]

(9)

Credit risk (continued)

As at 31 December 2011, the Group had trade
receivables amounted to RMB532,112,000
(before impairment loss of RMB48,700,000).
The Committee has prepared a report
to analyse the status of recoverability by
portfolio and the basis of provision on
customers for management review. As at
31 December 2011, specific provisions of
RMB42,000,000 were suggested by the
Committee. The Committee reported that
these debtors were of financial problems
and the recoverability of these receivables
were low. In addition, the management made
additional specific provisions of RMB6,700,000
after reviewing the subsequent settlement
and aging status up to the date of issuance
of these financial statements. The board
of directors has reviewed the report of the
Committee and analysis prepared by the
management and considered the total
provision of RMB48,700,000 is adequate but
not excessive. The board of directors closely
reviewed the collectability of trade receivables
and considered the trade receivables at
31 December 2011 of RMB 483,412,000
(after impairment loss of RMB48,700,000) is
collectible.

The board of directors considered the credit
risk of the bill receivables and liquid funds is
limited because the majority of counterparties
are reputable state-owned banks located in the
PRC.

Other than the concentration of the credit
risk on trade receivables, bills receivable and
bank balances and pledged bank deposits,
the Group does not have any other significant
concentration of credit risk.

Liquidity risk

In the management of the liquidity risk, the
Group closely monitors its cash position
resulting from its operations and maintains a
level of cash and cash equivalents deemed
adequate by the management to meet in full
its financial obligations as they fall due for the
foreseeable future. The management monitors
the utilisation of bank and other borrowings.

6.

MBETA (R

()

(9)

=ERE(E)

R-T——F+-fA=+—0 ~&=@#EEZ
5 e I8 E A R # 532,112,000 7T ( & 5135
EE1E A R#48,700,0007T) - ZE€C R E
—DREUDITIRE S B DB ]I EE R R
FRERE  IHEREREN N —F
+ZA=1+—H ZESEZTHEBEBARE
42,000,0007C - ZEERE  ZEEEATE
B 75 R B % S AR R AT Y B B o
SN BERENERBEZENHRETEASH
BHEE RIRRIENE  (FHREIINEIEREA
R#6,700,0007t - EE2EEHNEE RS
MEBEBRENDITRE  WRABEATEA
R# 48,700,000t/ &7 EM T BUA% - &5
SRR E ZRWFTENAIWEE - TRA
R-T——F+-A=+—BHZE S RERFHE
AR #483,412,000 T (EFHRESEBARE
48,700,000 7T) B AT UL[E] °

HRABNRHEFARTEEAZENES
RIT Bt EFERRERREBRRADES
MEERRER -

FRE 5 RURE - BREBURRITESRRD
BERRTERNEFEERRI  AREHE
ENEMEREESTER

TED LB

RERREERRE - AREZERAERE
BEMEAMNBRSNAREREEER SRR
MR RREFEHEAKFTULEENRAR
AREBBOPBEME - EEEBERRITREM
EFREVBRIEN ©
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6. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (CONTINUED)

(9)

(h)

for the year ended 31 December 2011
HE-Z-——F1+-A=1—-ALEFE

6. UBITAGE

Liquidity risk (continued) (9) wEMERERSR ()
The following table details the Group’s TRFIMNRN —FE——EFER—_ZE—ZFTFE+_A
remaining contractual maturity for its financial =+t—H '  AEERAQRNESRABENGRT
liabilities as at 31 December 2011 and 2010. S4B EAEARR o R IR UAANER KANA T
The table has been drawn up based on the AR ERNRNEFEERAEENSRAE
undiscounted cash flows of financial liabilities MR S RERE - W RREBEFE R
based on the earliest date on which the Group REREHRE ©
can be required to pay. The table includes both
interest and principal cash flows.
Liquidity and interest risk tables REMRARERR
Weighted Total
average Within 3 months 1-2 undiscounted Carrying
interest rate 3 months to 1 year years  cash flows amount
i iRz -£Z BRER
FiaR= =Rk - GES BeRE REE
% RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
aalt  ARETR ARETT ARETT ARETR  ARET
As at 31 December 2011 R=B--F
+=B=1-H
Trade and other payables 85 RHMENFE - 166,202 49,824 - 216,026 216,026
Amount due to a director EN—%EZTE - 1,500 - - 1,500 1,500
Borrowings &3 6.62% 168,203 291,458 51,058 510,714 495,928
335,905 341,282 51,053 728,240 713,454
As at 31 December 2010 R-E-%&
t-A=1-R
Trade and other payables B 5 RAMERTE - 171,723 55,620 - 207,343 207,343
Amount due to a director ER—BES50E - 800 - - 800 800
Borrowings-due within one year &3k ——F R4 5.89% 138,577 199,327 - 337,904 328,450
311,100 254,947 - 566,047 556,593
Fair value (h) AF¥E

The fair value of financial assets and financial
liabilities (excluding available-for-sale
investments) is determined in accordance with
generally accepted pricing models based on
discounted cash flow analysis or using prices
from observable current market transactions.

For available-for-sale investments, the fair value
is determined with reference to price quoted by
the bank, which is determined by reference to
the net assets of the fund.

CREENERAB(TEEATHREERE)N
DNHEDRBUABBRREREDTAEENR
REERALEAARRNB A TSI HHE
REETE -

AHHERENATFEDZ2ERTHREE
E o MBITHRERSEESEEFEET
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6.

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (CONTINUED)

(h)

Fair value (continued)

The directors of the Company consider that
the carrying amounts of financial assets and
financial liabilities recorded at amortised
cost in the consolidated financial statements
approximate their fair values.

Fair value measurements recognised in
the consolidated statements of financial
position

The following table provides an analysis
of financial instruments that are measured
subsequent to initial recognition at fair value,
grouped into Levels 1 to 3 based on the
degree to which the fair value is observable.

° Level 1 fair value measurements are
those derived from quoted prices
(unadjusted) in active markets for
identical assets or liabilities.

° Level 2 fair value measurements are
those derived from inputs other than
quoted prices included within Level 1 that
are observable for the asset or liability,
either directly (i.e. as prices) or indirectly
(i.e. derived from prices).

° Level 3 fair value measurements are
those derived from valuation techniques
that include inputs for the asset or liability
that are not based on observable market
data (unobservable inputs).

Available-for-sale A ERE
investments
—Level 3 — &A=

6.

M ITA (&)

(h)

DFE(E)

ARBEERR  WBHERAREA M BEHREK
AENEREELSHABAMNKREERELQF
BRE -

REFEUMBRRBRERNAFETE

TREHVSERBERAHETENMBE T
B - IREBEAFEFNEREED SRR

—z==-

« BA-ATEHEHEAEERAGE
RIS HRE CGREER) B, -

o MBI ZAFEFEHRR —AERE N
S ABIREERABRMEER (AE
%) ki (BUR B ER) B

s BA="FEFEABELIFNATEHRE
MSRE(TABRRBE) SERNEE
KB EBBHBERMEL

2011 2010
—ZET——%F —E—ZF
RMB’000 RMB’000
AREBTT ARBTFIT
1,000 1,000
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7. REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION

(a)

Products within each operating segment
The segment information reported was by
business, determined by the types of products
and the types of customers to which the
products are sold, which is consistent with the
internal information that is regularly reviewed
by the directors of the Company, who are the
chief operating decision makers of the Group,
for the purposes of resource allocation and
assessment of performance.

The Group has two reportable operating
segments as follows:

° OEM and related market-manufacturing
and selling of axle assemblies and axle
components to heavy duty truck and
middle duty truck manufacturers and
other assembly manufacturers.

° Aftermarket-manufacturing and selling of
axle components and axle assemblies to
market for providing after-sales services.

for the year ended 31 December 2011
HE-Z-——F1+-A=1—-ALFE
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements %5 B #3RRMzE

for the year ended 31 December 2011
BECR——H+-A=1+—-HLFE

7. REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION 7. WARDHER (E)
(CONTINUED)
(b) Segment revenue and results (b) DBYARDIBELE
Segment revenue Segment results
AEHRA AREE
2011 2010 2011 2010
—E--F% —Z-%F “E--f% —Z-%F
RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB’000 RMB'000
ARETTR ARETTT ARETTR ARETTT
OEM and related market OEM KRB M 382,610 447,232 97,11 118,539
Aftermarket EEmis 538,071 871,477 154,982 320,791
80 External revenue/ SN/
segment result PEEE 920,681 1,318,709 252,093 439,330
(@]
é Other income and other gains AR
3 and losses EhERER 7,680 2,632
z Seling and distribution expenses 4 kD #HER (26,044) (22,393)
= Research and development HERY
=8 expenditure (13,857) (12,860)
% Administrative expenses TBAEY (63,851) (48,510)
S Impairment loss on trade BoRIGE
E receivables (note) FESE () (48,700) =
c Finance costs HENA (25,900) (22,534)
& Proft before tax BBAER 81,421 335,565
> Taxation A (21,775) (49,890)
= Profit and total comprehensive ~ FAEFIR
< income for the year PENGES 59,646 285,675

Revenue reported above represents revenue
generated from external customers. There was
no inter-segment sales during the year.

The accounting policies of the operating
segments are the same as the Group’s
accounting policies described in note 3.
Segment results represent the gross profit of
each operating segment. This is the measure
reported to the directors of the Company
for the purposes of resources allocation and
performance assessment.

Note: The amount consisted of an impairment loss on
trade receivables for the OEM and related market
of RMB12,098,000 and trade receivables for
aftermarket of RMB36,602,000.

A E2HRBATBRIMBEPEENRA - REARL
D EPEHE

BES BN EHEE RN RN AR BEH KR
HAF - HEHEEES BESBOEF - LARSE
BRI AR R B K0 A A 2 R R A R
E o

Wizt : ZEEIER OEM RGBT TT5 6 B S fE W B R (E 78
ARH12,098,000 TTRIHIETTES 8 ZIEWF BN L
36,602,000 JT °
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REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION
(CONTINUED)

(c)

(d)

Segment assets

OEM and related market OEM K #8855
Aftermarket #(EThiH

Total of all segments FrEDEBEET
Unallocated KoL
Consolidated assets LREBE

Segment assets represent trade receivables.

Segment liabilities are not presented as
liabilities are generally incurred for all operating
segments and not presented to the directors
for performance assessment and resource
allocation.

Geographical information

The Group principally operates in the
PRC(country of domicile of the operating
subsidiaries). No non-current assets of the
Group are located outside the PRC.

All of the Group’s revenue from external
customers is attributed to the group entities’
countries of domicile (i.e. the PRC).

Information about major customers

None of individual customer of the Group
contributed over 10% or more of the Group’s
revenue during each of the years ended 31
December 2011 and 2010.

for the year ended 31 December 2011
HE-Z-——F1+-A=1—-ALFE

WKARDIER ()
(c) HAEEE
Assets
BE
2011 2010
—E——%F —E-ZF
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®T AREFIT
130,758 74,241
352,654 316,225
483,412 390,466
1,822,179 1,688,621
2,305,591 2,079,087

(d)

(e)

DESEERE SRR

mMRAAEEES - RTEELRERTER
EERRRAERERNEZH  HTE27

DEPAIE

1o 35 B R
AEBETERHESE (L ENEB AR R
BZK) - BEARE IR EEE R EIA
AR o

FIEASBERBINBEFPHNRALREBNEE
B EMEK (BIRE) -

EBREERFNER

RBE-_Z——FR _ZE—FF+_A=+—
ALLFEST  AEBEFERGLBERR
ANREFUZEH 10% SA L ©
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for the year ended 31 December 2011
BECR——H+-A=1+—-HLFE

8. OTHER INCOME AND OTHER GAINS AND 8. Hig A B H AU R EE
LOSSES
2011 2010
—E——F —E-TF
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARET T AREFIT
Government grant (note) BRI R, () 5,556 1,381
Income from suppliers B HIER R PE = E R A
on defects claim 3,095 4,596
Bank interest income ERITH BN 1,744 1,674
Loss from disposal of property, HEWE BEX
plant and equipment AR EE (2,488) -
Net foreign exchange loss P& 5 Es18 558 (339) (4,922)
82 Donation A5 - (137)
Others Hith 112 (60)
7,680 2,532
Note: The amounts primarily represented incentives granted Hiat : 325 B Z 50 7 BT B 58 L] B TR (7 3 Ir) 7K 5 [ 7 7

BT BB AR - AR RS RERREZHE
R BEEIIREBHELZFTER LT © ZFEUHBE

by local authorities to the group entities located in
the PRC for the eminent contribution of tax payment,

encouragement of its business development and refund
of various taxes paid, award of being successfully listed
on the Main Board of Hong Kong Stock Exchange.

TEHIEARIE K AR IE R B MR NF - ZFR MRS
EENRIRT 75 5 12 2 228 - FRRIA K A5 TEE L AG R B H K
BT B AR -

These grants are accounted for as immediate financial
support and award with no future related costs expected
to be incurred nor related to any assets.
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9. FINANCE COSTS 9. REMAK
2011 2010
—e——-% —T-T&
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBTT AREF T
Interest on: AR EIERFLE

Bank borrowings wholly R AF A
repayable within five years EEMRITRER 24,805 21,439

Other borrowings wholly RAFREE
repayable within five years EEMEMER 1,095 1,095
25,900 22,534
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements &5 B #3R R HizE

for the year ended 31 December 2011
BE-Z-——F+t-A=1t—HLFE

PROFIT BEFORE TAX

10.

Profit before tax has been arrived at after charging:

Employee benefits expenses
(including directors):
- salaries and other benefits
- retirement benefit
scheme contributions

Total staff costs

Depreciation of property,
plant and equipment

Release of prepaid lease payments

Auditors’ remuneration

Listing expenses
(included in administrative expenses)

Cost of inventories recognised as expenses
(included in cost of sales and research and
development expenditure)

TAXATION

Tax expense comprises:
Current tax expense
Underprovision in prior year
Deferred taxation (note 18)

EERFREY (RIEESR) :
— FE REMER
— RIREFEHEIE R
8 TR
0% - WERRETE

BEBRNHEENK
RBHM

IHAX (BRETHRAXA)

ERRRAX L FERA

BRBE AR
BRBLAD S RIS R

(BREHERARNEFRA)

11.

MR B4 -
BIEATR IR X
BEFEBEEBTE
EREFIR (FEE18)

The income tax expense for the year represents the
PRC Enterprise Income Tax which is calculated at
the prevailing tax rate of 25% on the taxable income
of the group entities in the PRC for the years ended

31 December 2011 and 2010.

The Company was incorporated in the Cayman
Islands and is not subject to any income tax.

2011 2010

i —2-24

RMB’000 RMB'000

ARBF5 AREFT

65,109 66,902

8,406 6,572

73,515 73,474

31,821 23,476

6,144 1,957

1,476 1,530

- 15,125

657,226 885,109

BB

2011 2010

—8——% —T-TF

RMB’000 RMB’000

ARMTFR  ARETFR

22,937 49,115

706 792

(1,868) (17)

21,775 49,890
P AT BBI S IR Bl R TSR - BB TR

HE_Z—FR-_Z—ZFF+_A=+—HILF
B RABENEEETENERE B ARIRITHR R

25% 5T & °

R B 8 BB MASL M NEBHERIFEH o
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements &4

for the year ended 31 December 2011

BE

11.

—E-—Et=A=t-ALEE

TAXATION (CONTINUED)

Chang Feng Holding (Hong Kong) Limited
(“Changfeng HK”), a wholly owned subsidiary of
the Company, was incorporated in Hong Kong and
has had no assessable profit subject to Hong Kong
Profits Tax since its incorporation.

Fujian Changfeng Axle Manufacturing Co., Ltd.
(“Fujian Changfeng”), a wholly owned subsidiary
of the Company, was established in the PRC.
In accordance with Foreign Enterprise Income
Tax (“FEIT”) Laws in PRC, Fujian Changfeng was
approved to be exempted from FEIT for two years
starting from its first profit making year since its
establishment and followed by a 50% tax relief
for the next three years. Fujian Changfeng was
subject to 12.5% tax rate for the years ended 31
December 2010 and 2011, the second and third year
entitled for 50% tax relief. Longyan Shengfeng and
Kaifeng Changfeng obtained the certificate of High
Technology Enterprise in 2010 and the applicable tax
rate is 15% for the year ended 31 December 2011.

The tax charge for the year can be reconciled to

the profit before tax per consolidated statement of
comprehensive income as follows:

Profit before tax

11.

MR R M o

BiE ()

BEEREEERAR([HEEHE]) SARF —FK
2EMBAR  RBBEMMKL - B AEFEMKZ
VAR RS BB NS TR A AR TSR A ©

BEGLYERIEARAR([REBE ) REARQA
—HKEEMBAR RPEKL - RIEFBEINE D
ERERA(INBERERMER]) - REGS B E
Fae B HAE AL PATR H & (EE A F E R 1
BAINE L REHR - MR =5 50% K TR
2oRBE_F-—TFR-F——FF+-A=1+—
BIEFEE  BRBEERI125%NREHMNERME
Mo MRE = RE = EFEEE0%HNHIER R - B
ERERAHGER_E-—TFNSEMRMEE

Tax at the domestic income
tax rate of 25%

Tax effect of expenses not
deductible for tax purpose

Tax effect of deductible temporary

difference not recognised

Tax effect of tax losses not recognised

Utilisation of tax losses
previously not recognised
Underprovision in prior year

Effect of tax concessions granted

to PRC subsidiaries

BE HEZZE——FT_HA=1T—"HLFEMNE
BAHEAE15% °
FAT KA R ARG 2 H W e 7% B bR B A F) 27 BR 20
T
2011 2010
—ZT——%F T —FF
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARET T ARET T
BR AR AT A 81,421 335,565
BERNEBFEMSHE25%
e Ti IR 20,355 83,891
AR A RIS R 2
5,796 5,529
RHER AT HR B B 1 = R
KRS 2 12,175 =
RERRIBBENRISE 4,051 920
B) A R S R MR T B 18
(117) =
BAEFERENR 706 792
M BB A R A IE
BENTE (21,191) (41,242)

21,775

49,890
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements &5 B #3R R HizE

TAXATION (CONTINUED) 11.

Under the New Tax Law, withholding tax is imposed
on dividends declared in respect of profits earned by
the PRC subsidiaries from 1 January 2008 onwards.
Deferred taxation has not been provided for in the
consolidated financial statements in respect of
temporary differences attributable to accumulated
distributable profits of the PRC subsidiaries
amounting to approximately RMB532,631,000 and
RMB460,697,000 at 31 December 2011 and 2010,
respectively, as the Company is able to control the
timing of the reversal of temporary differences and it
is probable the temporary differences will not reverse
in the foreseeable future.

As at 31 December 2011, the Group had deductible
temporary difference of RMB48,700,000 attributable
to the impairment loss on trade receivables. No
deferred tax asset has been recognised in relation
to such deductible temporary difference as, in the
opinion of directors, the utilisation of such temporary
difference is remote.

DIRECTORS’ AND EMPLOYEES’ 12,
EMOLUMENTS

(@) Directors’ emoluments
The emoluments of the directors on a name

basis are as follows:

For the year ended 31 December 2011

for the year ended 31 December 2011
HE-Z-——F1+-A=1—-ALFE

BiIE (8

REBFHE B_FTTN\F—A—BERATEN
JB 2 B BT BRER 80 )4 A B R B9 B SRR TR IR o B
AABAZEGBROEREZERE BEREE
BA BTN R RER - Hit - REEAM5
BRABERRN T ——FR_ZT-—FTF+_H
=t—H2RIRBR T BB AR R AHY K G
MA AR ¥ 532,631,000 7T & A R ¥ 460,697,000 7T
VB R I BR(E R R B

RZFB——F+-_A=+—8 XKEHEERES
FENRIEREBEMELN A REREZESA
K # 48,700,000 - AR EFRAERZFERE
ERMTEN - Rt W EARZE A RS IEE
BHREHAEECRAER

EEkEEZMH
(a) E=ME
EEMeRyREEmIT

HE_Z——F+-A=+t—HLFE

Other emoluments

Fees

ik

RMB’000

ARBT R

Wong Kwai Mo* TR -
Wu Ching* HAEH -
Lai Feng Cai* FEBLF -
Dong Ying, Dorothy B5 -
Zhu Wei Zhou ENEV| -
Li Xiu Qing B -
Zhuang Qing Xi mEE -

HihEi &
Retirement
Salaries benefits
and other scheme Total
benefits contributions emoluments
FeRk BIRER
HiF %= sHEIHR H e
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥ET T ARET AR¥ET T
1,194 10 1,204
1,194 10 1,204
327 3 330
85 - 85
85 - 85
85 - 85

2,970 23 2,993
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for the year ended 31 December 2011
BECR——H+-A=1+—-HLFE

12. DIRECTORS’ AND EMPLOYEES’ 12. EERESHFM(E)

EMOLUMENTS (CONTINUED)
(@) Directors’ emoluments (Continued)

For the year ended 31 December 2010

(a)

EEHE (F)
BE—TZTF+_A=t—RHULFE

Other emoluments

HEie

Salaries Retirement
and other benefits scheme Total
Fees benefits contributions emoluments

Fek RIRAEA)
we EAthFl) 7 FTEIHR RN
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARETIT AREFIT ARETIT ARETTT
86 Wong Kwai Mo* FEHEEE - 180 - 180
Wu Ching* B - 180 = 180
Lai Feng Cai* (note) FERF - (P EE) = 150 = 150
Dong Ying, Dorothy 4 - - - -
Zhu Wei Zhou KREM - 24 = 24
Li Xiu Qing =55 - 24 - 24
Zhuang Qing Xi HEE - 24 - 24
- 582 - 582

& Executive directors * HITEF

Note: appointed on 24 September 2010

None of the directors waived any emoluments
during the years ended 31 December 2011 and
2010.

(b) Employees’ emoluments
During the year ended 31 December 2011, of
the five individuals with the highest emoluments
in the Group, three (2010: three) were directors
of the Company whose emoluments are
included in the disclosures in note (a) above.
The emoluments of the five individuals are as
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follows:

Salaries and other benefits e REMET
Discretionary bonus E’J [BIEAL
Contributions to retirement BRIREFIFTBI AR

benefits scheme

(b)

Hiet : REFE—FFNF 1 AEZF

REBE_T——FE-_F-—FTFt_A=1—
HIEFE - ﬁ%*ﬁ%?ﬁﬁﬁ(%fiﬂ%%

BEME

RBE-_T——F+t-_A=+— EIJJ:EF’$
SERRESHFALFT  Hbh=%(=F—
F: E%)ﬁ$’&7%$ fEZ—r%?@HEAJ:XMT
it (e) HEE - ZABALHBEMT

2011 2010
—F-——% -2-2F
RMB’000 RMB’000

ARETT ARETT

3,386 1,048
341 232
37 11

3,764 1,291
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for the year ended 31 December 2011
BE-Z-——F+t-A=1t—HLFE

12. DIRECTORS’ AND EMPLOYEES’ 12. EEREESFHFM(E)
EMOLUMENTS (CONTINUED)
(b) Employees’ emoluments (Continued) (b) EEE<(E)
Their emoluments were within the following bands: HERMEN A TEHE :

No. of individuals

EEA™
2011 2010
—E——F —T-%F
Nil to HK$1,000,000 (equivalents to  Z 21,000,000 7T (FHZH4)
approximately Nil to RMB851,000) Z&= AR 851,0007T) 3 5
HK$1,000,001 to HK$1,500,000 1,000,001 %7t & 1,500,000 7T
(equivalents to approximately (FBERHARE 851,001 TE
RMB851,001 to RMB1,276,500) AR#1,276,5007T) 2 = 87
During both years, no emoluments were paid REZME  AEERERNREZESHTALT(E EE
by the Group to the five highest paid individuals FEENES) X HBE AESIMASINAZR 1t
(including directors and employees) as an SEBrREISK B EE - b
inducement to join or upon joining the Group or
as compensation for loss of office. 5
i
13. EARNINGS PER SHARE 13. BREAEF E
The calculation of the basic earnings per share RARVHEE ANEMLZIRERZF THARE AT SURET 8
attributable to the owners of the Company is based g %
on the following data: g
2011 2010
—E——F = —ZF
RMB’000 RMB’000

AR®TR ARETT

Earnings BEF

Earnings for the purposes of BF —SREREF
basic earnings per share (RRBEER A
(Profit for the year attributable JEMEEREF])

to owners of the Company) 59,767 285,675
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for the year ended 31 December 2011
BE_Z——H+-A=1+—-RALFE

13. EARNINGS PER SHARE (CONTINUED)

Number of shares RHHE
Weighted average number of
ordinary shares for the purposes

of basic earnings per share

For the year ended 31 December 2011, the weighted
average number of ordinary shares amounts to
800,000,000.

For the year ended 31 December 2010, the weighted
average number of ordinary shares has been
adjusted for 595,000,000 shares upon capitalisation
issue retrospectively and 200,000,000 shares issued
in global offering as more fully described in note 24.

(o]
(o]

No diluted earnings per share is presented as the
Company did not have any potential ordinary shares
in issue during both years or at the end of each
reporting period.

14. DIVIDENDS

No dividend was paid or declared by the Company during
the years ended 31 December 2011 and 2010.
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BB AR a8
—BRELREF

13.

14.

ZREM (&)
2011 2010
—2——F —TFF
800,000,000 = 654,246,575

REE-_ZE——F+_A=+—HILFE  T@ERK
hn#E 15 2z 800,000,000 % °

NEBE-Z-—ZF+-_BA=+—HILFE  EaK
I SEE AR & AL 3 1T7H) 595,000,000 A%
19 R 2 BREE R B 21T7HY 200,000,000 AEAED @ #E18
BAHIEE 24 o

P A A% P B F [ 3l & i o HAR R 8 ) SR AE ]
BECETERR  RUE25SEMEERT

RE

ARFAIRBE_F——FR-_F-FF+-A
= t+—BLFERES MRERETAKEE
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for the year ended 31 December 2011

BE-_Z——F+-A=+t—-HLEE
PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 15. Y% - BMERRE
Furniture,
Motor fixture and Construction
Buildings vehicles  equipment Machinery in progress Total
fil - %B
BT i k&% Ha HRIE At

RMBO00O  RMBOOD  RMBOO0  RMBO00  RMBO00  RMB'000
ARBTE  ARBTR  ARETE  ARRTR  ARETR  ARRTR

COST A
At 31 December 2009 and RZZENETZA=T-H
1 January 2010 R=F-EF-f-H 118,352 956 2,364 174,903 16,923 313,498
Additions AE 29,263 4619 1,719 25,086 76,712 137,399
Transfer 23 24,111 - - 5,339 (29,450) -

: 89
At 31 December 2010 and R-E-FE+-A=1-H
1 January 2011 k=2——%-A-H 171,726 5575 4,083 205,328 64,185 450,897 ;E
Additions HE 2,943 584 1480 119,661 127,782 252,450 0
Transfer LE 47,690 - - 6,427 (54,117) - H
. % _ _ _ _ _E.
Disposal e (6,019) (6,019)
At 31 December 2011 R-F—4#+-A=1-R 222,359 6,159 5,563 325,307 137,850 697,328 %

»

ACCUMULATED DEPRECIATION 2ififE —“
At 31 December 2009 and RZEZNETZA=T-H N
1 January 2010 R=E-EF-f-H 10,217 321 652 19,906 - 31,09 =
Provided for the year FREE 5,446 182 488 17,360 - 23,476 g
At 31 December 2010 and R-E-FE+-A=1-H
1 January 2011 k=2——%-A-H 15,663 503 1,140 37,266 - 54,572
Provided for the year ERER 7,140 873 1,004 22,804 = 31,821
Disposal e - - = (1,540) = (1,540)
At 31 December 2011 RZE—4+ZA=1-H 22,803 1376 2,144 58,530 - 84,853
CARRYING VALUES REE
At 31 December 2011 RZZ—%F+-A=1-H 199,556 4783 3419 266,367 137,850 612,475

At 31 December 2010 RZE-BFT-A=1-H 156,063 5072 2,943 168,062 64,185 396,325
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements %5 B #3RRMzE

for the year ended 31 December 2011
BE_Z——H+-A=1+—-RALFE

15.

16.

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 15. Y% - BERRE (E)
(CONTINUED)
The above items of property, plant and equipment, BRERTIZUAINYIA LM - BF RRBIEE K&t
other than construction in progress, are depreciated NFIREEE - BA T RUEGFEERE ¢
on straight-line basis at the following rates after
taking into account residual values:
Buildings BT 4.5%
Motor vehicles E 18%
Furniture, fixture and equipment RIFh - HE KB 18%
Machinery BT 9%
The Group has pledged certain buildings to secure REFREHR  AEECERETEST - LESRK
general banking facilities grant to the Group at the TAEBE—MRIRITRE - FFBERWFE23 -
end of each reporting period as detailed in note 23.
PREPAID LEASE PAYMENTS 16. FENHEEN
RMB’000
AREBT T
At 1 January 2010 —T—FTF—H—H 89,043
Additions NE 210,091
Released to profit or loss SRS (1,957)
At 31 December 2010 R_ZE—ZF+_A=+—H
and 1 January 2011 MZT——4%F —H 297177
Additions NE 9,906
Released to profit or loss R IE (6,144)
At 31 December 2011 WZZE——F+=-HA=+—H1 300,939
2011 2010
—B——F —E—ZF
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARET AREBTTT
Analysed for reporting purpose: BLERFRE MDA -
Current assets MEVEE 6,203 6,005
Non-current assets FEMBEE 294,736 291,172
300,939 297,177

At 31 December 2011, the Group’s prepaid lease
payments comprise medium-term lease leasehold
land located in PRC.

Prepaid lease payments are released to profit or loss
over the lease terms ranging from 45 to 50 years.

R-ZF——Ft+-_A=1t—8 AKEWENEE
NREEMRFENFAROEE L -

FNEERNFTNT F46EZ50F M H BN EEF 185 -



16.

17.

18.

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements &5 B #3R R HizE

PREPAID LEASE PAYMENTS (CONTINUED)

The Group is in the process of obtaining the land
use right certificate of a parcel of land included in
prepaid lease payments with carrying amount of
approximately RMB4,091,000 at 31 December 2011
(2010: RMB206,983,000).

AVAILABLE-FOR-SALE INVESTMENTS

REE®

Investment fund

The fair value of the above investment is determined
based on the price quoted by a bank, the fund
issuer.

DEFERRED TAX
The following are the major deferred tax liabilities

(assets) recognised and movement thereon during
the years ended 31 December 2011 and 2010:

At 1 January 2010 RZE—ZTF—HF—H

Credit to profit or loss RIBRRSI 85

At 31 December 2010 HRZ=ZZT—TF+=A=+—H
and 1 January 2011 ;k=F——%—H—H

Credit to profit or loss RIBEERYI 2 85

At 31 December 2011 RZZ—F+=-_A=+—H

The revaluation of the prepaid lease payments,
buildings, machinery, motor vehicles, furniture,
fixtures and equipment and inventories was arisen
from the acquisition of a subsidiary, Longyan
Shengfeng in prior years.

16.

17.

18.

for the year ended 31 December 2011
HE-Z-——F1+-A=1—-ALFE

BANEENR (&)

AEBEES— B LOERE  sTAEN
MEFE RZE—F+A=+T—HHEKA
BEHABARKEL4001,00T(ZZE—FF: AR
206,983,0007T) °

AfHERE
2011 2010
—2——F —TFF
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR®TR  ARBTE
1,000 1,000

ERBRENRFETDRERT(ESEITA)NORE
BT -

R IE
UTREHEBNEZREREAE (BE) RERE

E-T K- FT-TE+_A=+—HLEE
HYEE) :

Revaluation
of identifiable Unrealised
assets and profit for
liabilities inventories Total
el FERER
BERAE il AFT
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBT T ARETTT ARBTIT
882 - 882
(17) - (17)
865 - 865
(17) (1,851) (1,868)
848 (1,851) (1,003)

BNHEENRE  BF  #E A= &Gl KER
REARFENELRABEFERE—HHBER
AlRERRE -
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements %5 B #3RRMzE

for the year ended 31 December 2011
BECR——H+-A=1+—-HLFE

18. DEFERRED TAX (CONTINUED) 18. EEFIIE (18)
The tax losses are principally attributable to HIEEETERERENEB AR @ A3 %A &)
subsidiaries in the PRC with no deferred tax asset A AR M - B ERFIEESERERELETIEE
has been recognised in respect of the tax losses, Ee FENBARMNMRIEEEAAE AT - REE
due to the unpredictability of future profits streams. B2 ——FRIFTF+A=F+—RHLEE"
The tax losses of the PRC subsidiaries can be carried ARE B E b B A K BB IRERIE o

forward for five years. The Group has no other
significant unprovided deferred tax for the years
ended 31 December 2011 and 2010.

The Group had unrecognised tax losses as follows: NEBEHAENRERRIBERAT
RMB’000 Expiry date
ARBFIT F|HAH
92
. At 1 January 2010 RZE—ZTF—H—H 958 2014
z Addition RE 3,679
§ At 31 December 2010 and RZE—ZTF+-A=+—H
Z 1 January 2011 ;=T ——F—H—H 4,637 2014-2015
> Addition — PRC ARE—F 14,633
g Addition — Hong Kong NE — BB 1,570
b= Utilised [RE):E! (467)
3
3 At 31 December 2011 R-—ZT—F+=-A=+—8 20,373 2015-2016
[
= 19. INVENTORIES 19. FE
. 2011 2010
> B —E-TF
= RMB’000 RMB’000
2 ARBTL  ARETE
= Raw materials BATR 111,027 126,006
Work-in-progress £ Mm 80,423 55,554
Finished goods BURK 132,292 108,727

323,742 290,287




Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements &5 B #3R R HizE

for the year ended 31 December 2011
HE-Z-——F1+-A=1—-ALFE

20. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES 20. EZREMEKRFIE
Trade and other receivables comprise the following: B SRR RR DT T ¢
2011 2010
—2——F —TFF
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARET T AREFTT
Trade receivables B 5 EWRIA 532,112 390,466
Less: impairment loss on B B IEWGRIE
trade receivables BB TR (48,700) -
483,412 390,466
Bills receivable e E & 218,247 70
Other receivables E b el s IE 6,321 5,855
Advances to suppliers A FERE R 100,795 70,222 93
Prepaid expenses TEFX 3,057 684 e
VAT-in recoverable HEER — AT 25,548 7,625 E&%
=
Total trade and other receivables B 5N E bW TR IA B R 837,380 474,922 o
At the end of the reporting period, bills receivable RGN - REBEKRERE AR 101,504,000 3
outstanding amounting to RMB101,504,000 (2010: T(ZE—TF HE)DEETFETEREA - KEEH x:-\z
Nil) have been endorsed to certain creditors. The EERKDBSERBUARKEREZIEZIHMARILE - A
Group continues to present the endorsed bills as bills .
receivable until maturity. 3
. -
The Group allows an average credit period of 90- AEBREESEFRHEIOEI120HHTFHEELR - )
120 days to its trade customers. The aging analysis B 5 WA K BN R B 8 AR e D T AR SR A 3R 45 HA

of trade receivables and bills receivable is presented REVBEZRHZ7 o
based on the invoice date at the end of the reporting
period.




Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements %5 B #3RRMzE

for the year ended 31 December 2011
BE_Z——H+-A=1+—-RALFE

20. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES 20. EZRHMERE (&)

(CONTINUED)

The aging of trade receivables (net of impairment loss

on trade receivables) is as follows:

85 RUEIA(NGRE 2 BUGRERERR) MR
DT

2011 2010
—E——fF —TEF
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBTT AREF T
0 to 90 days 0Z90H 115,713 331,885
91 to 120 days 912120 H 42,149 52,245
121 to 180 days 121 2180 H 119,234 6,336
180 to 365 days 1802 365 H 199,292 -
94 Over 365 days 365 H A £ 7,024 -
% 483,412 390,466
o) The aging of bills receivable is as follows: JENEERBRER AT T -
>
= 2011 2010
Q —E——F —E-TF
5 RMB’000 RMB’000
g ARETT ARBFIT
o
El 0 to 90 days 0Z90H 173,021 70
g 91 to 120 days 912120 H 31,093 -
= 121 to 180 days 121 2180 H 14,133 -
> 218,247 70
= Before accepting any new customers, the Group REZERFHEFA - AEERNEEERPHE
3 has assessed the potential customer’s credit quality EEZRERPNEHEEERE L TEFHRE
= and defined credit limit of each customer. Limits eRFHEE—X-

attributed to customers are reviewed once a year.

In determining the recoverability of a trade receivable,
the Group considers any change in the credit quality
of the trade receivable from the date credit was
initially granted up to the end of the reporting period.

Included in the Group’s trade receivables balances
are debtors with aggregate carrying amount of
approximately RMB367,699,000 and RMB7,846,000
at 31 December 2011 and 2010, respectively,
which are past due for which the Group has not
provided for impairment loss as there has not been
a significant change in credit quality and amounts
are still considered recoverable based on historical
experience.

FOIRTE B 5 YRR AT E R - ARBEZE AR
RIRBEE AEEREHRE ZHRUFENE
EEEEEE -

AR BEZRENRIELESGRAN T ——F R =
T EF+_A=Z+—HEFHESIHNARE
367,699,000 7t & A ¥ 7,846,000 7T A & U BR 7K -
ZERYBIERE O AR EEEZTESAHE
SBRBBBATLR  ZERENMESATRE -
bt - AEBIWARFZ S B R EEBBRRE -
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21.

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements &5 B #3R R HizE

TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES
(CONTINUED)

Aging of trade receivables which are past due but not
impaired:

91 to 120 days 91&120H
121 to 180 days 121 £180H
181 to 365 days 181 £365H
Over 365 days 365 B A E

Movement in the impairment loss on trade
receivables

1 January —H—H

Impairment loss recognised FEMFIE 2 B 1R
on receivables BIEETE

31 December +=-—A=+—~H

Included in the impairment loss on trade receivables
are individually impaired trade receivables with an
aggregate balance of RMB48,700,000 (2010: Nil)
which have delayed payments for more than 90 days
or ceased business relationship.

PLEDGED BANK DEPOSITS/BANK
BALANCES AND CASH

Pledged bank deposits and bank balances carry
interest rates ranging from 0.01% to 5.5% per
annum for the year ended 31 December 2011 (2010:
0.001% to 4.86%).

Pledged bank deposits represent amounts deposited
with banks as security for the banks accepted
bills issued to its suppliers for the purchase of raw
materials.

for the year ended 31 December 2011
BE-Z-——F+t-A=1t—HLFE

20. EZRHEMERE (&)

ERMERRENE 5 RUGIAREK DT -

2011 2010
=F——F —T-TF
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR®TR  ARETT
42,149 1,510
119,234 6,336
199,202 -
7,024 -
367,699 7,846
B S ERRRHNEB RS
2011 2010
e
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥TR  ARBTT
48,700 -
48,700 -

Z 5 e WK TE R B B 18 B IR M HA S (<R B 90 H sl 4R
IFEBBENEREREE S EIKIE - SRFEA5T
AR¥E 48,700,000 ST (ZF—ZF  £) ©

21. BEARTER RITEHRRRAE

REE-_E——F+_FA=+—HILFE BiKF
RITERRIRITEBRFERNENT0.01% E5.5%( =
T—F4F : 0.001% £ 4.86%) °

EERRTERRRFARTUMERRITEIAE
HEFZEHABERMBENRENSEOEM -
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements %5 B #3RRMzE

for the year ended 31 December 2011
BECR——H+-A=1+—-HLFE

22. TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES 22, EZREMENTIE
Trade and other payables comprise the following: B 5 REAMENFIBEEANTSIE ¢
2011 2010
—2——F —TFF
RMB’000 RMB’000
AREBT T AREF T
Trade payables B S FERTFRIE 167,765 182,337
Bills payable AN 20,100 7,140
187,865 189,477
Advances from customers REZFRER 5,321 8,897
Payables for land use rights T b {sh PR R FE ST RIE - 20,710
96 Payables for property, plant and equipments  #1% - Bz N R e Z0E 19,142 10,214
Payroll and welfare payables e T & KAz 4,415 4,820
= Warranty accrual (note) RIEREFTRIE (B ) 1,088 1,039
a Other accruals H st 58 13,704 4,429
3 Other tax payable E (S RIE 5,659 15,637
= Other payables E SRR 4,604 2,122
= 241,798 257,345
g Note: At 31 December 2011 and 2010, the warranty provision Wi R-F——#FR-_F—FF+_H=+—H REEE
K represents management’s best estimate of the Group’s FEEE [E 4] AN 5E Bt an FE R B N M A RIS AR IR &
2 liability under 6-month warranty granted on products, FRIRIEIGET + W BFACH R ARG EmATTR R
g based on prior experience and industry practice for HREE -
E defective products.
| |
z The following is an aging analysis of trade payables, LATAREHREHARNEZENFB(REZAHE
5 presented based on invoice date, at the end of each 51)) KIBRER AT
g’ reporting period:
5 2011 2010
- —E——F —E-TF
RMB’000 RMB’000

ARBTT ARETT

Within 30 days 30 A 70,153 79,321
31 to 60 days 31260 H 35,916 28,660
61 to 90 days 61290 H 31,972 18,736
91 to 180 days 91%180H 11,790 28,275
181 to 365 days 181 2365 H 17,934 27,345

167,765 182,337
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23.

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements &5 B R KM=

TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES
(CONTINUED)

The following is an aging analysis of bills payable,
presented based on issuance date, at the end of
each reporting period:

31 to 60 days 31260 H
61 to 90 days 61290 H
91 to 180 days 91%180H

Trade payables and bills payable principally comprise
amounts outstanding for purchase of goods. The
credit period for purchase of goods is between 30 to

for the year ended 31 December 2011
BE-_Z——F+-A=+t—-HLEE

22, EZRHEMENFE(F)

UTARERSHRNENRE(RETRHES)
MERER DA -

180 days.

2011 2010
—2-—-5 —3-%F
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARMTE  ARETR
- 7,140

20,100 =
20,100 7,140

BORNFERENEEIEREERBESERS
o BEERNEEHNFI0E180H °

BORROWINGS 23. f&®
2011 2010
—B——F —ZE-TF
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR%T T ARETTT
Bank borrowings ERITIER 480,928 308,450
Other borrowings HE 15,000 20,000
495,928 328,450
Unsecured AR 105,000 46,600
Secured B 390,928 281,850
495,928 328,450
Carrying amount repayable: {TIEAE :
Within one year R—FR 447,968 328,450
More than one year, but not BB —FETBBRE
exceeding two years 47,960 -
495,928 328,450
Less: Amount due within B AR —FRNERENSE
one year shown under (RmEBaEE5)
current liabilities (447,968) (328,450)
Amounts shown under JEMENE FIR N SRR

non-current liabilities

47,960
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements &4 B ##R &R Mzt

for the year ended 31 December 2011
BE-_Z——F+-A=+—-HLEE

23. BORROWINGS (CONTINUED) 23. fE (&)
All borrowings are denominated in RMB, carry fixed FIBEFIAARBTE « LAEEFI LB KRR
interest rates and shown under current liabilities. BREZY -
The ranges of effective interest rates (which are also REFENETDEERMNXR(ETESERES N =E) 10
equal to contractual interest rates) on the Group’s N

borrowings are as follows:

2011 2010
—--5 -3 %F
RMB’000 RMB’000

AR®T ARETT

Fixed-rate borrowings ELEX 4.05%-7.225%  1.81%-9.10%

98 per annum per annum
- FRIE FF|=
é The borrowings are guaranteed and/or secured by BIBBAT A RER R HIEH

3 the following:

z

= 2011 2010
s —EB——F  —T-TF
% RMB’000 RMB’000
E ARBTTE  ARETFI
c Type A A%E 377,844 281,850
2 Type B B 13,084 =
= 390,928 281,850
;C”—U Type A:  Borrowings were secured by certain A¥E : EH U ANEFETFTEERE (HE1) -
8 assets of the Group (note 1).

§ Type B:  Borrowings were secured by bills B#E : B2 A E UL IR EE(R ©

receivable.




24,

23. BORROWINGS (CONTINUED) 23, {HE (&)

Note 1: The Group has pledged certain assets to secure Kiat1 - REEE R E T EELE AR EE R L AR
banking facilities granted to the Group. The TR EBIHEIR - BB ERREELT -
carrying values of the assets pledged are as
follows:

2011 2010

—E——F —E-TF

RMB’000 RMB’000

AR¥ET R AREETTT

Property, plant and equipment Y - BB R 109,832 115,061
Land use rights b {sE P A 86,038 86,451
Trade receivables B S rEKGRIE 73,739 55,612
269,609 257,124

At 31 December 2010, the Group pledged the RZE—ZFTE+_-_A=+—H KEBEZEE

equity shares of certain PRC subsidiaries as FTHREMNBAGNE=ROBIESEAARK

collateral to secure bank borrowings amounting to 167,100,000 LAY ERTTIE BRI IR - :ZIEBERFEA

RMB167,100,000. The pledge has been released fERR o

during the year.

SHARE CAPITAL 24, BRAR

Number
of shares Amount
A& E B x|
US$’000
FET
Ordinary shares of the United TR AFREEO0.01ET
States dollars (“‘US$”) US$0.01 each  ([3=7T])
Authorised: AE
At 1 January 2010 R-ZZE—ZFF—-HA—H 50,000 50
Subdivision (note 1) 4B (fI5E1) 4,950,000 —
Addition (note 1) $2n (=E1) 4,995,000,000 49,950
At 31 December 2010, 1 January 2011 A-ZE—ZTF+—-F=+—H *
and 31 December 2011 —E—%—H—H
r=—F—F+=-_A=+—H 5,000,000,000 50,000
Issued & fully paid: BEZTRHE -
At 1 January 2010 RZZE—ZTF—H—H 50,000 50
Subdivision (note 1) el (fiEE1) 4,950,000 -
Capitalisation issue (note 2) BAR(bEAT (fHE2) 595,000,000 5,950
Global offering (note 3) 2IREFE (FIEES) 200,000,000 2,000
At 31 December 2010, 1 January 2011 R =—ZE—=ZFF+—-_H=+—§ -
and 31 December 2011 —2—F—HA—HEK
—E—F+_-_A=+—H 800,000,000 8,000

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements &5 B #3R R HizE

for the year ended 31 December 2011
HE-Z-——F1+-A=1—-ALFE
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements %5 B #3RRMzE

for the year ended 31 December 2011
BE_Z——H+-A=1+—-RALFE

24. SHARE CAPITAL (CONTINUED) 24. MRA(48E)
2011 & 2010
—T——FK
—E-TF
RMB’000
AREBT T

Shown on the consolidated N CREN R =l

statement of financial position 53,560

Notes:

(1) On 28 June 2010, shareholders’ resolutions of the
Company were passed pursuant to which each share
of US$1.00 in the share capital of the Company were
subdivided into 100 shares of US$0.01 each. On the
same date, the Company increased its authorised share
capital to US$50,000,000 divided into 5,000,000,000
shares, with a par value of US$0.01 each. Such
additional shares rank pari passu in all aspects with the
shares then in issue.

(=]
(=)

2) On 28 June 2010, shareholders’ resolutions of the
Company were passed to capitalize an amount of
US$5,950,000 standing to the credit of the share
premium account of the Company by applying such sum
in paying up in full at par of 595,000,000 and the shares
rank pari passu in all aspects with the shares then in
issue.

3) In September 2010, the Company issued 200,000,000
shares with par value of US$0.01 each, at a price of
HK$4.00 per share by way of a global offering to Hong
Kong and overseas investors.
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R-ZF—FENA—1/\H AR GRE RS
B - B - AR RIRA A AR EE 1.00 35T B9 R 17 5740
B 100832 0.01 ZTTHIRG ° A H + KL 8 IR %
JERZNZE50,000,000357T + 7755,000,000,0004% 7242 B
1B0.01 ETTHIR 7 * ZZEEINR 15 55 ST a9 17 FE BT
B EZ A E R ©

R-ZF—FFENA—+ A ARFGREFRZEHEE
B - B B(E % E AN EL B4 T E 18 595,000,000 R AR
17+ AR ER D (B AR R IE 5,950,000 7T 77X B AR
1t RZERGHEERFEZTRGIEAETEZ B RS

REF—FFNA AR AEBRAEERGIREE S
BREE - 1257 4.00% T %177 200,000,000 AR &% [ET (B
0.01 ZTLAIR 1 °
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25. OPERATING LEASE

Minimum lease payments paid under operating
leases in respect of office premises amounted to
RMB642,000 and RMB405,000 for the year ended
31 December 2011 and 2010, respectively.

At the end of each reporting period, the Group
had commitments for future lease payments under
non-cancellable operating leases which fall due as

for the year ended 31 December 2011
HE-Z-——F1+-A=1—-ALFE

25. KEHE
RERAEVERNLLHESMHREHEENTR

BE-_T —SR-FT-TF+_A=T—HLHF
5 5B AR 642,000 7T & A R 405,000 7T

REREHRR  ARERETAIHELLHENR
KAEMNFAENBBERDT

follows:
2011 2010
—2——F —TFF
RMB’000 RMB’000
AREBTT AREF T
Within one year —FR 332 509
In the second to fifth year inclusive FEFEFRAF (RIEEEMT) - 271

Operating lease payments represent rental payable
by the Group for certain office premises and
warehouse properties. Leases are negotiated for a
term of 1 to 2 years with fixed rate.

REHENFEARERETRIENEREFEY
XEMOEE HER -FEMFRERRABEE

P A -

26. OTHER COMMITMENTS 26. HfthEiE
2011 2010
—E——F —=—ZF
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARET R ARET T
Capital expenditure in respect of W R 5 B ik 2= ) B AN R S
acquisition of plant and machinery
— contracted for but not provided = EEENA
in the consolidated A TSRS
financial statements (note) (B5E) 13,833 53,990
Capital expenditure in respect of m—fEMEB AR
capital contribution to a subsidiary FEREARR
(note 31) (FfFzE31) 60,000 =

Note: The capital expenditure is related to the construction
of production facilities for expansion of the Group’s
operation.

Bifat: BEAGIX B A R A e A B 2R -
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements %5 B #3RRMzE

for the year ended 31 December 2011
BE_Z——H+-A=1+—-RALFE

27.

28.

RETIREMENT BENEFIT PLAN

The Group operates a Mandatory Provident Fund
Scheme for all qualifying employees in Hong Kong.
The assets of the scheme are held separately from
those of the Group, in funds under the control of
trustees. The Group contributes 5% of relevant
payroll costs to the Scheme, which contribution is
matched by employees.

The employees of the Group are members of state-
managed retirement benefit scheme operated by
the PRC government. The Company’s subsidiaries
are required to contribute a certain percentage of
payroll costs to the retirement benefit scheme to fund
the benefits. The only obligation of the Group with
respect to the retirement benefit scheme is to make
the required contributions under the scheme.

RELATED PARTY DISCLOSURES

The Group had the following transactions with related
parties:

(@)  Particulars of the amount due from a director
are as follows:

Ms. Wu Ching (note)

Note: Maximum amount outstanding during the year
ended 31 December 2011 and 2010 were RMBnil
and RMB7,748,000, respectively.

fREF L (MtEE)

27.

28.

BRKERGHE

AEESMBAEBRNEREERLBHMERES
itEl - ZAtBIMBEERAKREEENH - WHIEFE
ABFINESFE - AEBERABHFEKAE% [FX

AHEIER - EEB MR B

AEENEE RATEBRFEENBERERRAE
METBIWMKE - ARRIMBARAR T ERANE
TEOLRERBNEFEHFAREERNES - K
SEFUR KRN B - BT AL EE D

FERFK

BEALEE

REBDETATHEALRS -

(@ EWESFIEFEOAT :

2011 2010
—2——F —TFF
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR®TR  ARBTE

Bit REZE—_FE——FR _F—FF{_HA=+—H
IFFRFTAAR AR LD FIBARKEEITLRA
E# 7,748,000 °
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RELATED PARTY DISCLOSURES
(CONTINUED)

)

Details of balances of amount due to a director
are set out in the consolidated statement of
financial position on page 42. The amount
due to a director as at 31 December 2011
and 2010 are interest free, unsecured and
repayable on demand.

During the years ended 31 December 2011
and 2010, the Group entered into the following
significant transaction with a director:

Purchase of motor vehicle BERE
Mr. Wong Kwai Mo FHERSTAE

Compensation of key management personnel

The remuneration of directors and other
members of key management during the years
ended 31 December 2011 and 2010 was as
follows:

L ERR A
RIREF

Short-term benefits
Post-employment benefits

28.

for the year ended 31 December 2011
BE-Z-——F+t-A=1t—HLFE

BEALTKE (&)

(b)

BRABRNESFEANFBRHIINF42ANE
BUBRRERAN - RZB——FR-_ZT—ZF
tT-A=1+—08 FMERNESFHEIRR
B B RRRERERE -

REBEEZE—_2——FR_F—ZFF+_A=+—
AIEFE  AEBSHESEETUTEARS

2011 2010
—2——F —TFF
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®TR  ARBTT

1,500 800

TEEEASHH

RBE-_F——FR-FFTF+_A=+—
AILFE EFRAMFRERABMNFMH
I

2011 2010
—g—-5 —F-=F
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®TR | ARETFT
3,779 1,340

38 12

3,817 1,352

S
Vi
18t
Hh
B
i
i)
e
5
ol
L
N
<
Ay
B




Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements %5 B #3RRMzE

for the year ended 31 December 2011
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29. PARTICULARS OF SUBSIDIARIES 29. KMIMARFHE

The Company has the following indirectly held, RARHEBUTHEERE (SHEZERERIN) BB
unless otherwise stated, subsidiaries: INT ¢

Place and
of incorporation/

Issued and Effective equity interest
fully paid share/ attributable to the Group

Name of subsidiary establishment registered capital as at 31 December Principal activities
B AT ERTRBRRG FEEEGERRAED
HEARARE RItER A AR A R+=A=t—H TEER
2011 2010
“E—-§ —T-FF
GEERESERAA Hong Kong HK$10,000 100% 100%  Investment holding
Changfeng HK 14 February 2008 10,0007 (directly)  (directly)  IREER
04 GEERESERAA 0 (E#) (B#%)
- ((BE8%]) “ZTZ)\EZH+MA
‘?zh RREGEEELEERAR PRC RMB813,000,000 100% 100%  Manufacture and
Li Fujian Changfeng 5 March 2001 AR 813,000,0007T sale of axle and
~ RREGEEELEERAR H related components
) (MErBE)) —ZZ—5=HAA SERHEERE
= RIBBZH M
e
% BEERERRREERAR PRC RMB293,000,000 100% 100%  Manufacture and
2 Longyan Shengfeng 29 March 2006 AR 293,000,000 7T sale of roughcast
5 BERSEMEE R AR H SUERHEER
g (E==233) ZETRFEZRAZTNA
1 MG EERERAA PRC RMB375,000,000 100% 100%  Manufacture and
5 Kaifeng Changfeng 19 April 2006 AR 375,000,000 7 sale of axle
g RaGEERARAR 3 SERHEEE
% ([HHEE]) ZEZRENATNAR
- IR G L ERRA PRC RMB1,000,000 100% 100% Research and
Beijing Changfeng 6 July 2010 AR™1,000,0007% development
G LEEWRN 3 of axle and related
(Bl 3)) —T-ZTELARH components
HEBERFR
TREAZ
)l EERERAR PRC RMB160,000,000 100% 100%  Manufacture and
Sichuan Changfeng 16 July 2009 AR® 160,000,000 7T sale of axle
MG EERARAR HE SERHEERE
(Tm)&E]) R ) AN =
REGEERERAR PRC RMB100,000,000 60% - Manufacture and sale
Changfeng Gear 21 July 2011 AR® 100,000,000 7% of axle
REGSERERAR 3 SERHEERE
([EEER]) “E—FtA=1+-H



30.

31.

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements &5 B #3R R HizE

NON-CASH TRANSACTION

During the year, Changfeng Gear was incorporated
pursuant to the cooperation agreement entered into
by and between the Group and an independent third
party on 11 November 2010, pursuant to which
the Group and the independent third party, being
a non-controlling shareholder of Changfeng Gear,
own 60% and 40% of the equity interest therein,
respectively. During the year, the Group made a cash
contribution of RMB60,000,000 to Changfeng Gear
whilst the non-controlling shareholder contributed
new machineries with an aggregate value of
RMB40,000,000. The Group and the non-controlling
shareholder are committed to inject an additional
amount of RMB60,000,000 and RMB40,000,000
respectively, in the year 2012.

FINANCIAL SUMMARY OF THE COMPANY

RESULTS

Administrative expenses TERALZ
Interest income FEWA
Loss for the year FNEE

for the year ended 31 December 2011
HE-Z-——F1+-A=1—-ALFE

30. F¥REXH

31.

RER BEERDIREASEE -ZBHTE=
TR-_F-—FF+—A+— BRI YNAEH=E
MRSz - Tt - ARERBIE=T (ANGEEEH
B IE 1 B AR ) 0 E AR 0 Bl B 60% K 40% Y #E
@ RFER - ARERBEEEREHRESHIAR
#60,000,0007T » M FERBRAIRHEES K
#) A R 40,000,000 7T B9 #T # 25 o N &= E F IR 4R
BBRRAFEBR -_F—_FDRIBEINEAARSE
60,000,000 7t &2 A R # 40,000,000 7T °

NS Erp 2

2011 2010

—2——F —TFF

RMB’000 RMB'000

AR®TR  ARBTE
(15,252) (18,612)

- 41
(15,252) (18,571)
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements &4 B ##R &R Mzt

for the year ended 31 December 2011
BE-_Z——F+-A=+—-HLEE

31.

FINANCIAL SUMMARY OF THE COMPANY 31.

(CONTINUED)

ASSETS AND LIABILITIES

NON-CURRENT ASSET
Investment in a subsidiary

CURRENT ASSET
Bank balance

CURRENT LIABILITIES
Other payables

Amount due to a subsidiary
Amount due to a director

Net current liabilities
Total assets less current liabilities

OWNERS’ EQUITY
Share capital
Reserves

FRBEE
R—REMBRARNRE

REBEE
RITHEER

REAE

HA 5500

FE& 1 — T8 A Rl 50
e —REFHR

mEa EFE
BEERRBAR

BEAER
[LZN
i

RRA BB ERE (18)
EERER
2011 2010
—g-—-% C—T-%F
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARETR AREFIT
863,894 875,066
1,975 9,452
10,041 1,590
12,496 6,112
- 7,526
22,537 15,228
(20,562) (5,776)
843,332 869,290
53,560 53,560
789,772 815,730
843,332 869,290




32.

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements &5 B #3R R HizE

RESERVE

At 1 January 2010

Loss and total comprehensive
expense for the year

Issue of ordinary shares

Transaction cost attributable to
issue of new ordinary shares

Share Premium capitalization

At 31 December 2010 and
1 January 2011

Loss and total comprehensive
expense for the year

At 31 December 2011

RZZ—ZF—A—H
FAEERZH

R 4858
BITEBAR
FEAEZATHRR (D

RZPKA
BRinnBEARL
RZZE—TF+=A

=t+—HBK
—Z—%—H—H

FABBLEZE
F % #ER

RZF——F
+=A=+—H

Note: The balance represents deemed distribution, transfer
and deemed contribution arising group reorganisation for
listing purposes which took place in 2008 and 2009.

for the year ended 31 December 2011
HE-Z-——F1+-A=1—-ALFE

32, f#fE
Share Capital Accumulated

premium reserve deficits Total
R4 1E RAfE R RitE 4 a|&t
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARETT AR®ETR ARETR AR®BTxR

(Note)

(PH7E)
- 226,982 (6,472) 221,510
= = (16,248) (16,248)
650,608 = = 650,608
(11,483 - - (11,483
(39,829) = = (39,829)
599,296 226,982 (21,720) 804,558
- - (14,786) (14,786)
599,296 226,982 (36,506) 789,772

Hist : ZAERIER = FENFR —EENFR LT A BMET
KEEFELRRIED IR ~ BRRBEEHL
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5-Year Financial Summary ZFHBHE

Year ended 31 December
BZE+-A=1+—HILEE
2007 2008 2009 2010 2011
22 F ZTITN\F ZTTNEF ZEETF —T——F
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBT T ARETRTE ARETT ARBTT AR®TxR

RESULTS E
Revenue Was 176,668 417,830 801,151 1,318,709 920,681
Profit before tax FRBE R A 42 255 93,170 190,912 335,565 81,421
Income tax (expense) charge FT15%: (B ) R = (1,593) (28,128) (49,890) (21,775)
Profit for the year F N A 42,255 91,577 162,784 285,675 59,646
08
At 31 December
R+=—HA=+—H
2007 2008 2009 2010 2011

“FTLE “FE\F —TTAF ~T-BF -F-—F
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBTRE ARBTE ARMTE ARETT ARMTR

ASSETS AND LIABILITIES ¥EREE

Total assets BERE 301,537 575,933 1,006,422 2,079,087  2.305,591
Total liabilities BfERE (172,551) (294,045) (481,750) (616,227) (743,011)
Net assets FEE 128,986 281,888 524,672 1,462,860 1,562,580
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This report is published in both English and Chinese KIRE A X IEGS 5 IR - TETEX FER a8 7 IE
languages. Should there be any inconsistency between EHF - A o

the Chinese and English versions, the English version shall

prevail.



A=



	封面
	目錄
	公司資料
	主席報告
	管理層討論及分析
	董事及高級管理層
	董事會報告
	企業管治報告
	獨立核數師報告
	綜合全面收益表
	綜合財務狀況表
	綜合權益變動表
	綜合現金流量表
	綜合財務報表附註
	五年財務摘要
	封底

